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 Responsible body’s declaration

In accordance with the Financial Management Act 1994, I am pleased to present the report of operations for  
Bass Coast Health for the year ending 30 June 2025.

Ian Thompson, Chair, Board of Directors
Bass Coast Health
28 August 2025

 About this report

Bass Coast Health reports on its annual performance in this report of operations. This Annual Financial and 
Performance Report fulfils the statutory reporting requirements to Government by way of an Annual Report. This 
document is presented at Bass Coast Health’s Annual General Meeting and is available on the Bass Coast Health 
website with hard copies made available to the community.

 Relevant Ministers

We are a public health service established under the Health Services Act 1988 (Vic). The responsible Minister is 
the Minister for Health.

Minister for Health /  
Minister for Ambulance Services
The Hon. Mary-Anne Thomas from 1 July 2024  
to 30 June 2025

Minister for Health Infrastructure
The Hon. Mary-Anne Thomas from 1 July 2024  
to 19 December 2024

The Hon. Melissa Horne from 19 December 2024  
to 30 June 2025

Minister for Mental Health / Minister for Ageing
The Hon. Ingrid Stitt from 1 July 2024 to 30 June 2025

Minister for Disability / Minister for Children
The Hon. Lizzie Blandthorn from 1 July 2024  
to 30 June 2025
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 Our Mission

Delivering person centred care to improve health, wellbeing, care experience  
and health outcomes, with our community.

Our Vision

Excellence in care.

Our Values

W Wellbeing

E Equity

C Compassion

A Accountability

R Respect

E Excellence

﻿

 About BCH
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Acute Services 
●	 Antenatal and Post-natal domiciliary services 

●	 Haemodialysis 

●	 Hospital in the Home 

●	 Integrated Cancer 

●	 Maternity 

●	 Medical and Surgical inpatient 

●	 Operating Suite / Day Procedure / Central Sterile 
Supply Department (CSSD) 

●	 Phillip Island Urgent Care Centre

●	 Wonthaggi Emergency Department with Short Stay 
Unit and Fast Track

Sub-Acute Services 
●	 GEM@Home 

●	 Sub-Acute inpatient including Geriatric Evaluation 
and Management (GEM), Rehabilitation  
and Palliative Care

Residential Aged Care 
●	 Griffiths Point Lodge – 29 beds 

●	 Home Care Packages (Flexihealth) 

●	 Kirrak House – 30 beds

Primary and Community  
Care Services 
●	 Alcohol and Other Drugs including Needle and 

Syringe 

●	 Allied Health including Occupational Therapy, 
Physiotherapy, Podiatry, Dietetics, Social Work and 
Speech Pathology 

●	 Best Start 

Primary and Community  
Care Services (continued)
●	 Clinical Nurse Consultants including Aboriginal 

Health, Asthma and Respiratory, Cancer Care, 
Chronic Disease Management, Continence, 
Diabetes, Palliative Care, Stomal Therapy and 
Wound Care

●	 Counselling 

●	 Dental 

●	 District and Palliative Care Nursing 

●	 Family Day Care 

●	 Health Promotion 

●	 Hospital Admission Risk Program 

●	 Integrated Family 

●	 Maternal and Child Health 

●	 Meals on Wheels

●	 National Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS) 
services: Continence Nursing and Allied Health 
including Occupational Therapy, Physiotherapy, 
Podiatry, Dietetics, Social Work and Speech 
Pathology	

●	 Post-Acute Care 

●	 Residential in Reach

●	 School Focused Youth 

●	 Social Support 

●	 Specialist Outpatients 

●	 Supported Playgroups 

●	 Therapeutic groups including: Cardiac 
Rehabilitation, Continence Support Group, Diabetes 
Support Group, Falls Prevention / Falls and Balance, 
Heart Failure Rehabilitation, Hip and Knee Joint 
Rehabilitation, Pulmonary Rehabilitation Program 
and Pulmonary Support Group 

●	 Transitional Care Program

  Our Service Profile
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Medical Specialists 
●	 Breast Surgery 

●	 Cardiology 

●	 Dermatology 

●	 Gastroenterology

●	 General Medicine – Diabetes 

●	 General Surgery 

●	 Geriatric Medicine 

●	 Gynaecology 

●	 Haematology 

●	 Infectious Diseases 

●	 Medical Oncology 

●	 Nephrology 

●	 Neurosurgeon 

●	 Obstetrics 

●	 Ophthalmology 

●	 Orthopaedics 

●	 Palliative Care 

●	 Paediatrics

●	 Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery 

●	 Radiation Oncology 

●	 Rehabilitation Medicine 

●	 Respiratory and Sleep 

●	 Urology

Clinical Support Services 
●	 Acute Mental Health (Latrobe Regional Health) 

●	 Breast screening (BreastScreen Victoria) 

●	 Infection Prevention and Control 

●	 Pathology (Monash Health Pathology) 

●	 Pharmacy 

●	 Radiology and ultrasonography (Imaging Associates)

Volunteer Programs 
●	 Administration volunteers 

●	 Advisory Committees: Aged Care Advisory 
Committee, Community Advisory Committee, 
Consumer Health Information Committee and First 
Peoples Advisory Committee 

●	 Concierge and wayfinding

●	 Fundraising Auxiliaries: BCH Inverloch Art Show 
Auxiliary, BCH Ladies Auxiliary, BCH San Remo 
Opportunity Shop Auxiliary, Inverloch Fundraising 
Auxiliary and Phillip Island Health Hub Auxiliary 

●	 Gardening 

●	 Residential aged care, visiting Griffiths Point Lodge 
and Kirrak House 

●	 Social Support Activity Groups

●	 Volunteer Transport 

●	 Ward visiting at Armitage House and Theatre
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 A New Era Upon Us
 This financial year ended on the eve of an exciting and ambitious new chapter in the history of public healthcare in 
Victoria with Local Health Service Networks coming into effect from 1 July 2025.

Bass Coast Health (BCH) will join with our neighbours, Gippsland Southern Health Service and Kooweerup 
Regional Health Service, as well as Alfred Health, Peninsula Health and Calvary Health Care Bethlehem, under the 
banner of the Bayside Local Health Service Network. The network will consolidate and strengthen established 
clinical pathways to Alfred Health and Peninsula Health, while supporting care closer to home through enhanced 
access to services and specialists. 

In order to maximise the potential benefits of the network, from 1 January 2026 we will be taking this partnership 
one step further as these health services – with the exception of Calvary – voluntarily amalgamate to become 
Bayside Health. The creation of Bayside Health will unlock efficiencies and improve care and health equity for the 
betterment of the 1.2 million people that our combined health services will care for, as well as creating 
opportunities for our staff to advance their professional development and careers. 

 Year Under Review
BCH enters the Bayside Health umbrella in great shape, having been named the Premier’s Medium Sized Health 
Service for 2024. Our residential aged care services have attracted four and five star ratings, and we further 
expanded services and infrastructure investments, including the phased opening of our new Community Hospital 
in Cowes. Other highlights include launching our Paediatric and Neonatal Outpatient Rapid Access Clinic, 
enhancing services for First Peoples, increasing general surgery and gynaecological clinics, introducing dedicated 
stroke rehabilitation beds and reinstating certain Paediatric services. Cumulatively these initiatives enabled BCH 
to provide more care to more patients closer to home, safely. 

The provision and expansion of high quality care to our community would not be possible without the dedicated 
and tireless efforts of our talented staff, the generosity of our volunteers and benefactors, and the ongoing 
commitment of our engaged partners. Clinical partnerships have been the keystone to meeting the increasing 
healthcare needs of our community, enabling BCH to build local capability and expand the range of services 
delivered locally. 

Significant work has already been done throughout this financial year to bring the new network together, while 
progressing the formation of the new health service, however there will be much more work to be completed over 
time. The voluntary amalgamation will be a multi-year, fluid process that will create much change in public 
healthcare for the better.

On a more local level, we were delighted to open our new Phillip Island Community Hospital in June. The hospital’s 
location, next to our Phillip Island Health Hub in Cowes, marks a new chapter in the provision of public healthcare. 
Working with the Victorian Health Building Authority, Department of Health and the Victorian State Government, 
stage one delivered an expanded Urgent Care Centre and pathology in time for the school holidays. Work 
continues at pace, with radiology services introduced in July. We look forward to delivering the second stage that 
will feature a public dental service, chemotherapy/dialysis and operating theatres, during the new financial year.

Chief Executive and 
Chair Report
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The hospital has long been anticipated by the Island community, and involved significant input from our 
community partners and generous supporters. One of our partners, the Rotary Club of Phillip Island and San 
Remo, pledged to raise $100,000 over five years to fund the construction of the Rotary Rehabilitation Garden in a 
light-filled courtyard on-site. The garden is now open and enables our Allied Health staff to work with patients on 
their physical and mental rehabilitation following surgery, injury or illness, as the garden replicates settings 
patients will experience in their daily lives. BCH is grateful to Rotary for its vision and support to help this project 
become a reality.

A highlight of 2024 was BCH being named the Premier’s Medium Health Service of the Year at the Victorian Public 
Healthcare Awards. The judges noted that while we provide quality care to our community, what set us apart were 
our strong community partnerships. Our desire to involve our community in our activities, to work with them to 
expand our services and to bring them along the journey to achieving our service growth aspirations, also earned 
the judges’ plaudits. 

Our partnerships are vital, and there is no doubt we could not have achieved what we have if we didn’t enjoy the 
exceptional collaboration and support that we do. The award acknowledged: 

●	 how we enhanced quality and safety, and reduced risks to patients through patient-centred care initiatives. 

●	 that we strengthened the capacity of individuals, families and communities through effective prevention 
and health promotion. 

●	 how our excellent care was recognised via external accreditation reviews during the last 12–18 months. 

●	 how our staff demonstrated their versatility in response to the major storms, outages, and multiple 
infrastructure and system upgrades. 

●	 that we improved the work environment, grew our staff, and maintained a culture where our 
WE CARE values guide us.

As our services continue to grow, so does our need for additional staff and housing to accommodate them. That’s 
why we were excited to receive $5 million in State funding to construct a Staff Accommodation Facility. Located to 
the west of Kirrak House at Wonthaggi Hospital, this facility will provide contemporary, hotel-style 
accommodation for health workers and their families. This will provide a supportive, convenient and social 
environment for our staff and make BCH an even more attractive place to work.

Continuing the theme of change, we farewelled Jan Child as CEO in October 2024 after eight years of dedicated 
service. Jan was instrumental in driving growth in services, enhancing clinical pathways and partnerships, and 
significant infrastructure development, confirming BCH’s role as a sub-regional health service. Jan’s tenure 
spanned the outbreak of COVID-19, where BCH supported the community with testing centres, and reconfigured 
the hospital into ‘hot’ and ‘cold’ areas to safely support all patients and staff. Major infrastructure milestones 
included the redevelopment of Wonthaggi Hospital, establishing the original Urgent Care Centre at Cowes, the 
building of the L. Rigby Cancer Centre at Wonthaggi and the initiation of the Phillip Island Community Hospital. 

Following Jan’s departure, we were pleased to welcome Professor Simone Alexander as interim CEO in December 
2024. Simone has brought to the role a wealth of experience as a senior executive in a metropolitan hospital 
environment, predominately Alfred Health (AH). Simone combines her new role with her substantive position as 
Deputy CEO of AH, and is illustrative of the positive working partnership between AH and BCH. With Simone at 
the helm, BCH was in an excellent position to join the Bayside Local Health Service Network and health service 
voluntary amalgamation. Since joining BCH, Simone has enhanced a number of processes, strengthened clinical 
pathways, actively engaged with our community, and overseen the completion of stage one of the Phillip Island 
Community Hospital and the launch of our first Reflect Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP).
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We took a major step towards enhancing health outcomes for our First Peoples community by launching our first 
Reflect RAP during National Reconciliation Week in May. This plan specifies the actions we will take to ensure we 
provide culturally safe and appropriate healthcare to our First Peoples community, with the aim of achieving 
better health outcomes. Across Australia, health is an area of significant disadvantage for First Peoples, yet good 
health is vital to them enjoying their lives to the fullest. We have already acted to enhance our level of care to First 
Peoples, such as through the formation of our First Peoples Advisory Committee and an Aboriginal representative 
joining our Community Advisory Committee, which reports to the Board.

A particular focus has been developing and embedding whole of hospital systems and processes to facilitate 
timely, quality care to patients from their point of entry to their discharge. This, combined with prioritising staff 
and patient experience, has built a strong foundation from which we continue to improve care for our community.

BCH is committed to expanding the range of services we offer to our community, closer to their homes and above 
all, providing the highest level of care possible. This philosophy has inspired our many achievements this year, as 
summarised below:

Safety and Quality 

We delivered safe, high quality, person-centred care by: 

●	 maintaining accreditation under the National Safety & Quality in Health Service Standards following an 
assessment by the Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Healthcare.

●	 re-accreditation of our two residential aged care facilities, Griffiths Point Lodge and Kirrak House, during the 
three-yearly review by the Aged Care Quality and Safety Commission. 

●	 maintaining accreditation for our Aged Care Community programs, such as Home Care Packages, under the 
Aged Care Quality and Safety Commission. 

●	 re-accreditation of our Family Day Care program under the Australian Children’s Education & Care Quality 
Authority National Quality Framework.

●	 maintaining accreditation for our Integrated Family Services, Sexual Assault Support Service and Family 
Violence program under the Social Service Regulations. 

●	 meeting the requirements of the Child Safe Standards.

●	 satisfying the requirements of the National Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS) Practice Standards and Quality 
Indicators, receiving continued certification from the NDIS Commission. 

●	 maintaining accreditation of the pre-vocational intern and post-graduate year 2 (PGY2) medical training 
conducted by the Postgraduate Medical Council of Victoria (PMCV). 

●	 achieving accreditation of the Bass Coast Health Anaesthetic Department to have rotation of Anaesthetists 
and Medical Registrars for the Anaesthetic Component of Intensive Care Training.

●	  achieving accreditation for Australian College of Rural and Remote Medicine (ACRRM) core generalist training 
and advanced training via Wonthaggi Hospital Emergency Department. 

●	 achieving accreditation for the Royal Australian College of General Practitioners (RACGP) special skills post at 
Wonthaggi Hospital Emergency Department.

●	  partnering with our tertiary hospital networks to establish a rotating surgical registrar roster for 2025, and 
ongoing Hospital Medical Officer (HMO) and registrar (e.g. Geriatric) rotational agreements (Monash, Austin, 
Alfred) for 2026. 
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●	 collaborating with Safer Care Victoria (SCV) to improve safety by:

	−  participating in the SCV Safer Together Program 

	− participating in the Improving Care for the Older Person at Risk of Delirium (ICORD) project

	− participating in the Reducing Line Infections project

	− participating in the Timely Emergency Care 2 (TEC2) project

	− seeking advice on processes to meet the Statutory Duty of Candour and Serious Adverse Patient Safety 
Event requirements.

●	 ensuring BCH has trained Consumer Advocates in Serious Adverse Event reviews.

●	 maintaining five-star ratings for Kirrak House and Griffiths Point Lodge.

●	 transitioning Specialist Outpatient Clinics from Mastercare to iPM to ensure efficient referrals, timely access to 
care and consistent communication for patients and referrers.

●	 Electronic Medical Record (EMR) enhancements to reduce the risk of hybrid medical records. 

●	 major review of all Emergency Codes and introduction of Code Pink – Obstetric Emergency and 
Code Blue – Paediatric.

●	 undertaking a major Clinical Governance review of Maternity Services to ensure BCH is providing high quality 
maternity services and to position the health service in preparation for uplifting capability. 

●	 transitioning to a new radiology provider, Imaging Associates, and providing service enhancements to 
the Bass Coast community.

●	 meeting the Department of Health state-wide standards of the Maternal and Child Health service.

●	 satisfying the Department of Families, Fairness and Housing (DFFH) state-wide standards of the Supported 
Playgroup program.

●	 meeting the Department of Education state-wide standards of the Best Start and School Focused Youth 
Service programs.

●	 satisfying the Department of Health state-wide standards of the Alcohol and Other Drugs service.

●	 meeting the Dental Health Services Victoria standards of the Dental Service, Smiles for Miles and 
Smile Squad programs.

●	 creating a training simulation room within the Emergency Department available for hospital-wide use for 
life-like scenario teaching and training.

●	 two Senior Emergency Department nursing staff members becoming credentialled Advanced Paediatric Life 
Support (APLS) Instructors. APLS instructors are qualified to provide Paediatric Resuscitation teaching for 
clinicians at BCH.

●	 implementing the ‘Inclusivity in the ED – Disability Safe Environment Action Plan’, a strategic, compassionate 
and forward-looking initiative designed to transform the experience of care for individuals with disabilities in 
our Emergency Department.

●	 partnering with Aspect, a national leader in autism support, to complete a full environmental assessment of 
the Emergency Department with recommendations to be implemented.
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Service Growth and Development

We grew service capacity and capability, improving access to meet local and sub-regional needs by:

●	 launching our Paediatric and Neonatal Outpatient Rapid Access Clinic to provide specialised follow-up care for 
our youngest patients. This new service supports children and newborns recently seen in our Emergency 
Department, Urgent Care Centre or Maternity Services, offering a seamless transition from acute care to 
continued support.

●	 establishing a new multi-disciplinary pre-admission clinic for upper and lower limb orthopaedic surgery 
patients. This means they can see nursing, anaesthetics and allied health on the same day, rather than making 
repeat visits, helping to set their expectations for recovery after surgery and reducing the length of their stay by 
identifying issues before surgery.

●	 implementing Elective Surgery Information System (ESIS) reporting to the Victorian Department of Health. 
ESIS is a vital system that tracks elective surgery waiting lists, ensuring accurate reporting and better resource 
allocation across Victoria’s public hospitals. The adoption of ESIS allows BCH to streamline elective surgery 
management, ensuring patients receive timely and well coordinated care.

●	 expanding our services to First Peoples’ patients to help ensure they receive culturally-appropriate care that 
meets their health needs by introducing Aboriginal Health Nurses. They help to provide Aboriginal Health 
Assessments, and coordinate Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander care.

●	 initiating dedicated stroke rehabilitation beds in Armitage House to enhance the care we provide 
to stroke patients.

●	 increasing our general surgery and gynaecological clinics.

●	 introducing sleep studies and respiratory specialist outpatient clinics, and additional nephrology, infectious 
diseases and neurological services.

●	 implementing the iPM waitlist patient management system.

●	 introducing a new referral management system for our Access referral management team – a contemporary 
system that streamlines the management of external referrals.

●	 expanding our infusion service within our Better@Home team to include iron infusions.

●	 growing our clinical trials service. We implemented the Teletrial model of trial delivery, increased the capacity 
of our Clinical Trials and Research Unit by adding the Research Unit Manager and Clinical Trial Coordinator 
roles, and developed and implemented an induction program and manual, and staff competency framework. 
Our partnership with TrialHub continues to support the growth of our clinical trials program.

●	 reinstating our Paediatric Occupational Therapy service.

People 

We enhanced our workforce and developed our skillset by:

●	 applauding long-serving staff at the BCH Annual General Meeting. BCH celebrated 41 staff who had served 
between 10 and 35 years, with special mention made of Maree McFarlane for serving 35 years, Glenda Edwards 
for 30 years and Darryl Lewis for 25 years. In total, 580 years of service were acknowledged.

●	 successfully piloting multi-disciplinary Career Drop-In Sessions, creating accessible opportunities for staff to 
explore career pathways and professional development options.

●	 designing and implementing a locally tailored MS Excel training program in response to longstanding Training 
Needs Analysis (TNA) findings. More than 25 staff have participated to date.
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●	 expanding our Pathway to Practice Program, with enrolments now to 11, with the inclusion of the first Midwifery 
participants, reflecting a broadened scope and interest across disciplines.

●	 securing three positions in the highly competitive Paediatric Infant Perinatal Emergency Retrieval (PIPER) 
outreach program. Participating staff attended four intensive study days at leading tertiary health services.

●	 continuing expansion of our student, RUSON/M (Registered Undergraduate Students of Nursing/Midwifery), 
Graduate and Postgraduate programs, further embedding the ‘grow your own’ model across the organisation.

●	 growing our Blended Campus: 42 students are now enrolled at the BCH and Federation University Blended 
Campus, with the inaugural cohort on track to graduate with a Bachelor of Nursing at the end of 2025.

●	 achieving a 100 per cent graduate match rate to available positions in the first round of Postgraduate Medical 
Council of Victoria (PMCV) – marking a significant milestone for BCH.

●	 reaching full recruitment for our 2025 Allied Health Graduate Programs.

●	 almost fully recruiting to our nursing workforce.

●	 implementing clinical school placements where undergraduate Physiotherapy students complete three 
consecutive clinical placements at BCH. 

●	 launching the Pathway to Leadership pilot program, with more than 50 staff attending. This initiative is the 
foundation for a broader, local leadership development strategy.

●	 strengthening our partnership with Australian Catholic University, with the second cohort of Pathway to 
Practice participants currently enrolled in a postgraduate certificate-level unit in Advanced Nursing.

●	 establishing the Workforce Skills, Capability and Mobility committee meetings across support services and 
corporate teams, ensuring staff learning and training needs are systematically identified and addressed.

●	 facilitating organisation orientation to 37 new staff onboarded through our international recruitment 
campaign. They came from such countries as United Arab Emirates, United Kingdom, India and Kuwait.

●	 members of the Learning and Development (L&D) team being invited to present at local, state and national 
professional conferences, showcasing BCH initiatives and innovation.

●	 L&D continuing to enhance local engagement through expanded work experience and structured workplace 
learning programs. Highlights include career immersion sessions for 30 local Year 10 students, featuring 
hands-on simulations in maternity, nursing and occupational therapy. These programs received exceptional 
feedback from schools and participants. 

●	 BCH Pharmacist Anne Gleeson completing an Australian-first clinical trial pharmacy training program at the 
Alfred Hospital, including practical and theoretical learning.

●	 developing our inaugural Aboriginal Employment Plan.

●	 achieving a 75 per cent engagement score in the annual People Matter survey and making improvements to the 
following areas based on responses to this survey: management and leadership, workload, pride in 
organisation, and training for new and existing staff.

●	 continuing to implement BCH’s Workforce and Recruitment Strategies, with vacancies almost halved 
compared with this time last year.

●	 continuing to build partnerships with local disability employment organisations.

●	 conducting forums with BCH staff and community members, which confirmed unanimous support for 
consolidation/amalgamation with Bayside Local Health Service Network.
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●	 introducing a new contemporary Allied Health staff model, benefiting staff through more opportunities for 
career progression, greater leadership, more equivalent full-time staffing and higher job satisfaction, and 
benefiting patients through more focused care.

Partnerships and Collaboration

We have developed close partnerships dedicated to shared outcomes and inclusiveness by:

●	 working with Gippsland Southern Health Service, South Gippsland Hospital and Kooweerup Regional Health 
Service on a series of workforce support initiatives following the successful Partnering for Innovative Workforce 
Solutions Conference at Inverloch in May 2024, which discussed workforce challenges in healthcare. Initiatives 
included Leadership, Psychological Safety, Occupational Violence and Aggression Train the Trainer, Advanced 
Paediatric Resuscitation, Dementia Care, Change Management, Diversity and Inclusion, and FIM Facility 
Training. 

●	 being an active member of the Bass Coast Reconciliation Network, helping to organise and run events for Sorry 
Day, National Reconciliation Week and NAIDOC Week.

●	 partnering on the development of a Bass Coast Gathering Place – Yananhat Gathering Place Partnership Group.

●	 appointing Aunty Professor Doseena Fergie as our Elder-In-Residence. 

●	 being a part of the Gippsland Health Service Partnership.

●	 welcoming three new members to our Community Advisory Committee.

●	 South Coast Prevention Team partnering with local secondary schools to deliver the Vaping Prevention 
Challenge in Secondary Schools Initiative. 

●	 working with our Community Advisory Committee, Consumer Associates and Consumer Consultants to obtain 
consumer input to improve our services, including the development of a new community engagement program 
bringing key community leaders into the health service regularly, led by one of the Consumer Associates.

●	 the BCH Ladies Auxiliary raising funds by holding a fun-filled fete that also showcased the creative talents of 
our local vendors.

●	 the 37th Inverloch Art Show exhibiting a record 480 entries over the Easter weekend, raising funds for our food 
box program for vulnerable children, families and community members to ensure they do not go hungry.

●	 the Phillip Island Health Hub Auxiliary holding a successful race day at Woolamai.

●	 welcoming the Rotary Club of Inverloch’s funding of $15,000 for artists Amanda Watts and Raewyn Petracca to 
paint a bright, colourful and captivating mural in the courtyard of Kodowlinun acute ward. The mural is entitled 
“Manna Gum Retreat”.

●	 introducing the recycling program, Medsalv, into our Surgical Suite for staff to collect surgical items which are 
cleaned by the recycling company, Medsalv, and sold to health services to reuse at a significantly discounted 
rate. The project was driven by Clinical Nurse Specialist Jessica Kitson to reduce our waste and carbon 
emissions. Theatre staff also recycle plastic caps from medication containers. These are transformed into 
artworks by Reverse Art Truck and pens by Recycled Pen Art.

●	 launching two shade sails on the veranda at the L. Rigby Centre, thanks to the fabulous fundraising of patient, 
Cheryl Wilson. Cheryl has been receiving treatment for breast cancer at BCH, and still managed to rally her 
family and supporters to raise $13,600 for the shade sails that will provide shade to patients seeking fresh air 
during their treatment. 
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●	 recognising our fabulous volunteers at our annual Volunteer Celebration during National Volunteer Week, 
including service award recipients: five years, Graeme Bright, Toni Cornelius, Alison Dixon, Amanda Drennan, 
Joan Gaunt, Terry Hall, Ross Kelly, Alan Pittard, David Scrase and Grant Wadeson; 10 years, Marie Mills; 20 years, 
Barbara Culph; and 25 years, Candy Pile.

●	 continuing our amazing transport volunteering service to the community where our volunteer transport team 
of 35 drivers averaged 150 drives per month. 

●	 providing 312 hours welcoming consumers and 1,248 hours helping consumers find their way around the 
hospital through our concierge and wayfinding volunteers. 

●	 providing 640 hours of support through our administration volunteers. 

●	 providing 780 hours of support, care and refreshments to theatre patients through our theatre volunteers. 

●	 spending 540 hours collecting consumers from their homes and bringing them to BCH to engage with others 
and to participate in activities. This program also runs off-site at cafes, lunches and trips to the library.

●	 introducing a new Aged Care Advisory Committee.

●	 implementing a National Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS) check for volunteers in aged care.

●	 extending the Code of Conduct for Aged Care into our broader aged care volunteer services. 

●	 aged care volunteers spending 400 hours helping at Kirrak House and 1,144 hours volunteering at Griffiths 
Point Lodge residential aged care homes.

●	 welcoming a Volunteer Coordinator to the team. 

●	 expanding volunteer training to auxiliary members.

●	 commencing a volunteer wayfinding service at the Phillip Island Community Hospital.

●	 starting a Philanthropy Operations Committee.

●	 welcoming the Phillip Island Community Consultative Committee’s direct input into service planning and 
detailed design of the Phillip Island Community Hospital, and community members’ contribution to the design 
and planning of the Phillip Island Urgent Care Centre. Input from the Phillip Island Health and Medical Action 
Group ensured the voice of Islanders was considered in all aspects of service development. 

●	 embracing the expertise of the First Peoples Advisory Committee in informing our key initiatives and activities.

●	 our CEO visiting community groups to consult on proposed changes to Victorian health services, namely the 
development of Local Health Service Networks. The presentation included an opportunity for the community 
to ask questions and provide feedback to the health service.

●	 valuing the input of the BCH Consumer Health Information Committee in ensuring information produced by 
BCH is written and presented in an understandable format that meets health literacy principles and related 
BCH policies. 

Financial Health 

We have demonstrated strong financial governance, viability and sustainability by:

●	 expanding our operating base revenue from $55 million in 2015–16 to $170 million in 2024–25, enabling broader 
access to healthcare services for our community.

●	 exceeding activity targets, with continued investment in our workforce programs, operational footprint and 
clinical equipment.
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●	 maintaining a strong focus on financial reporting and forecasting to navigate an increasingly complex 
operating environment.

●	 responding proactively to internal and external audits, resulting in strengthened financial controls 
and compliance.

●	 appointing a new external radiology provider to enhance diagnostic service delivery.

●	 completing competitive tender processes associated with the Staff Accommodation Facility at Wonthaggi 
Hospital, with design and construction now underway.

●	 undertaking multiple sourcing activities for furniture, fittings and equipment to support the commissioning of 
the Phillip Island Community Hospital.

●	 being selected as a participating health service in the Victorian Auditor-General’s audit of HealthShare Victoria’s 
state-wide purchasing agreements and achieving full compliance with HealthShare Victoria’s 
purchasing policies. 

●	 leveraging financial and business data to better understand and manage cost pressures and cash flow 
challenges throughout the year.

●	 working closely with the Department of Health, whose ongoing support has been instrumental in achieving our 
financial health objectives.

●	 managing $6.4 million in capital investment to support:

	− procurement of medical and ICT equipment for the Phillip Island Community Hospital

	− infrastructure and equipment upgrades

	− refurbishment of Warworn Ward at Wonthaggi Hospital.

●	 contributing to the investment logic, business case and feasibility study for the Wonthaggi Hospital 
Stage 2 Expansion.

●	 receiving $1.2 million in donations, supporting vital equipment and service enhancements, including:

	− $921,000 anonymous donation for medical imaging equipment at Phillip Island Community Hospital 

	− $20,000 from Rotary Club of Phillip Island and San Remo for the Rehabilitation Garden (part of a five-year 
commitment of $100,000)

	− $5,000 from the Cowes Cancer Support Group towards equipment at Phillip Island Community Hospital 

	− $3,000 from Gracie Tan for equipment at Wonthaggi Hospital and Phillip Island Community Hospital 

	− $31,000 for theatre camera and accessories (M. Stirton, M. Turton, A. Adams) 

	− $8,000 for diagnostic devices (R. Bott, L. McMahon, Miners’ Dispensary) 

	− $20,000 from Wonthaggi Workmen’s Club for Warworn Ward equipment 

	− $202,000 in general donations, including a significant bequest supporting the equipment 
replacement program.
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●	 our dedicated Auxiliaries raising $236,000, enabling critical service improvements:

	− San Remo Opportunity Shop: $190,000 for hospital beds, CTG machines, stroke rehabilitation equipment 
and portable ECG

	− BCH Ladies Auxiliary: $9,000 for palliative care syringe drivers and $1,200 for the RIPER (Recreational 
Inpatient Programs Enriching Recovery) Occupational Therapy program

	− Phillip Island Health Hub Auxiliary: $31,000 for anaesthetic machine upgrades

	− Inverloch Fundraising Auxiliary: $4,750 for a new hospital bed in the L. Rigby Centre

	− Inverloch Art Show Auxiliary: raising funds for our food box program.

While we are proud of our achievements on behalf of our community during the past 12 months, we must 
acknowledge the close partnerships with individuals and organisations that have underpinned our successes. We 
wish to recognise and thank:

●	 our Federal, State, and Local governments.

●	 the Victorian Department of Health.

●	 the Commonwealth Department of Health.

●	 the Victorian Health Building Authority.

●	 our local State member.

●	 other Federal and State representatives.

●	 our metropolitan health service colleagues, in particular Alfred Health and Monash Health.

●	 our regional and sub-regional health service colleagues, especially South Gippsland Hospital, Gippsland 
Southern Health Service, Kooweerup Regional Health Service, Latrobe Regional Health and the Gippsland 
Region Public Health Unit.

●	 Ambulance Victoria.

●	 Victoria Police.

●	 our valuable community organisations, including Rotary, Men’s Sheds, Freemasons and Lions.

●	 local businesses.

●	 the local media.

●	 members of our community.

We’re fortunate to receive significant donations from individuals and organisations. These enable us to deliver a 
greater range of quality care. Their fundraising has benefited our services by permitting us to buy new equipment. 
Every donation, regardless of size, goes towards enhancing the sub-regional public health service of the Bass 
Coast and South Gippsland region. Thank you to each and every one of our donors.

Leading the way in raising funds for BCH are the community-minded members of our volunteer Auxiliaries. 
Through raffles and holding events, often with the support of local communities and businesses, these Auxiliaries 
have raised funds for new equipment that benefits our patients. Thank you to the Phillip Island Health Hub 
Auxiliary, the San Remo Opportunity Shop Auxiliary, the Bass Coast Health Ladies Auxiliary, the Inverloch Art 
Show Auxiliary and the Inverloch Fundraising Auxiliary. Your willingness to help and your passion for community 
service are truly remarkable. We truly appreciate all that you do for BCH.
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As a health service with strong links to our community, we are blessed to receive the support of 134 active 
volunteers to provide services. They assist us in a variety of ways, such as Transport Driving; Ward, Theatre and 
Aged Care visiting; and Administration, Gardening, Wayfinding and Concierge. They also serve on our First Peoples 
Advisory Committee and Consumer Advisory Committees, offering community input into the decisions we make 
on our community’s behalf.

A special note of thanks to our Community Advisory Committee and our Consumer Associates whose insight has 
made us even more consumer-focused. Their valuable perspectives and connections have strengthened the 
quality of our services and extended BCH’s reach into the community. We’d also like to acknowledge Community 
Advisory Committee Chair Mim Kershaw for her leadership and guidance of this pivotal committee. 

Finally, we recognise the insight of our patients, clients, residents and families who are the people we ultimately 
service. It’s because of your feedback – complimentary and critical – that we’re able to know what is working well 
and what we can do better. We wish to ensure that as your public health service, we’re delivering the care you 
need in the way you would like us to. Thank you for being our valued partners in our community’s care.

 Looking to the Future
The public healthcare outlook for the Bass Coast region is strong with the voluntary amalgamation expected to 
drive better health outcomes for our community. Locally we will continue to focus on the provision of high quality, 
person-centred care. 

We will continue to expand our services through stronger partnerships that will deliver smoother pathways of 
care, and greater equity and access to specialist medical care.

The next 12 months will be full of significant change that, in years to come, will lead to significant benefit for our 
community. The name ‘Bass Coast Health’ will enter the pages of the history books as our Wonthaggi, San Remo 
and Cowes sites become part of a new health service stretching from South Gippsland and Bass Coast, to the 
Mornington Peninsula and Bayside inner Melbourne. This new health service will be known as Bayside Health. 
Our site names – Wonthaggi Hospital, Phillip Island Community Hospital and San Remo Community Health – and 
the names of our residential aged care facilities – Kirrak House and Griffiths Point Lodge – will remain. We eagerly 
look forward to continuing to build our place within this health service that will retain the same purpose for which 
BCH operates today: to deliver more care to our community, closer to home. 

We will continue to work with the Victorian Health Building Authority to progress the Master Plan, Feasibility 
Study and Business Case for Stage Two of the Wonthaggi Hospital Expansion, and eagerly await the opening of our  
Staff Accommodation Facility.

While our name will change, our community-minded spirit and desire to serve will remain.

Ian Thompson,	 Simone Alexander,
Chair, Board of Directors	 Interim Chief Executive Officer
Bass Coast Health	 Bass Coast Health
28 August 2025	 28 August 2025
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Board of Directors
The Board of Directors (the ‘Board’) of BCH is accountable to the Minister for Health and Ambulance Services (‘the 
Minister’) for its performance. The role of the Board is to steer the entity on behalf of the Minister in accordance 
with government policy. This governance role broadly involves strategic leadership of the organisation, monitoring 
performance against agreed objectives and ensuring accountability and compliance.

Functions of the Board include:

●	 developing a statement of priorities and strategic plan for the operation of BCH and monitoring its compliance.

●	 developing financial and business plans, strategies and budgets to ensure accountable and efficient provision of 
health services and long-term financial viability of BCH.

●	 establishing and maintaining effective systems to ensure that BCH meets the needs of the community, 
ensuring the views of users and providers of health services are considered.

●	 monitoring the performance of BCH.

Ian Thompson | Board Chair

B. Bus. (Accounting), Grad. Dip. (Corp. Finance), C.P.A., GAICD

Ian is a risk professional with more than 30 years’ experience in financial markets, 
having worked in various credit, economic, quality, risk management and 
governance roles here in Australia and in the UK. Ian spent the bulk of his career 
with leading global credit rating agency, Standard & Poor’s Rating Services, most 
recently as a Senior Managing Director and Global Chief Credit Officer. Ian has been 
a director or independent member of the Finance, Audit and Risk committees of a 
number of ‘for purpose’ organisations. Ian joined the BCH Board in July 2016 and 
chaired the Finance, Audit and Risk Committee until October 2022. Ian was the 
Deputy Board Chair until October 2022 and commenced as Board Chair in 
November 2022. He is a member of the Finance, Audit and Risk Committee, Quality 
and Clinical Governance Committee and Remuneration Committee.

BCH Corporate 
Governance
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Julia Oxley | Deputy Chair

MBusMktg, BA, GAICD, WCLP2023

Julia Oxley is an experienced public sector board director, executive and leader 
spanning 15 years in Victorian health, emergency services, water and local 
government. With deep operations, business management and marketing 
expertise, Julia has worked in a range of industries over four decades. Passionate 
about people, performance and the community since 2019, Julia has worked at 
Monash Health as General Manager Community Health where she has brought 
about purposeful change, improved operational and financial performance, positive 
patient outcomes and enhanced employee engagement. Julia rejoined the board in 
July 2024 and was appointed Deputy Chair in August. She was a previous Bass Coast 
Health board director from 2019 to 2022. Julia is a member of the Finance, Audit 
and Risk Committee, Community Advisory Committee and the Remuneration 
Committee. A part-time resident of Phillip Island, Julia is committed to improving 
the health and wellbeing of people and communities in the region. 

Kate Jungwirth

LLB, B.Com (Accounting), Grad. Dip. (Intellectual Property Law), Advanced 
Diploma (Mechanical Engineering)

Kate is an experienced legal practitioner who was appointed to the Bass Coast 
Health Board in July 2017. Kate has significant expertise in the health, aged care and 
disability sectors, having acted as legal counsel for Victorian public health services, 
not-for-profit disability service providers and an aged care service provider. Kate also 
has experience advising on commercial contracting, tendering and procurement, 
legislative and regulatory compliance, business acquisitions, sale of assets, 
intellectual property, privacy and freedom of information matters. Kate is currently 
Senior Legal Counsel at Scope and is a member of the Finance, Audit and 
Risk Committee.

Simon Jemmett (until 30 June 2025)

BHSc, Grad. Cert. Mgt, Dip. Proj. Mgt, MAICD

Simon has more than 30 years in health, initially working in the public and private 
hospital systems before moving to Ambulance Victoria. Simon has an intensive care 
paramedic background and substantial experience across both the metropolitan 
and rural health sectors in clinical and operational management, education, audit 
and clinical governance. Simon was the Regional Director Gippsland for Ambulance 
Victoria for four years, led some of Ambulance Victoria’s transformative IT projects 
and was formerly on the Governance Committee for the Emergency Care Clinical 
Network. Simon joined the BCH Board in July 2017, is the Chair of the Quality and 
Clinical Governance Committee, and is also a member of the Finance, Audit and 
Risk Committee and the Remuneration Committee.
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Ian Leong

Bach Bldg (QS) (Hons), Grad. Dip. Comp Sc., MBA, GAICD

Ian has more than 45 years’ experience in the building, health and consulting 
industries, having worked in both government and private sectors. Initially, Ian has 
significant experience as a property/building consultant, but more recently has 
managed his own general consultancy firm, providing advice to private and 
government clients. Ian has been a senior executive at a number of major 
metropolitan health services, with responsibilities for capital redevelopment, future 
strategy/health service delivery, patient experience and commercial/support 
services. Ian joined the BCH Board in August 2018 and is a member of the Finance, 
Audit and Risk Committee and the Community Advisory Committee.

Angelo Saridis

Angelo is an experienced executive having held executive roles over the past 
10 years in Local and State Government, public transport and utilities industries. 
Angelo brings contemporary skills in technology driven business transformation 
and innovation, having led organisational transformation programs and sector-wide 
reform programs across different industries and sectors. Angelo has significant 
governance experience both as an executive supporting board governance 
functions and also as a former member of the Ministerial Advisory Committee for 
Mine Rehabilitation. He is highly involved in the Gippsland innovation ecosystem 
having founded startups and provided mentoring support to startup founders 
throughout Gippsland. He lives locally and has a real passion for the Gippsland 
region. Angelo is the Chair of the Finance, Audit and Risk Committee.

Liz Camilleri 

Bachelor of Business (Accountancy), Fellow CPA, GAICD

Liz is a seasoned finance professional with more than 30 years of experience in 
healthcare. Liz joined the Board of Bass Coast Health in July 2022. She is also a 
Board Director and Chair of the Finance Committee at Uniting AgeWell, and a Board 
Director and Chair of the Audit and Risk Committee at Box Hill Institute. Liz enjoyed 
a number of roles during her 30-year-plus career at Epworth HealthCare, from 
managing Payroll, Hospitality Services and the Greenfield start-up of the Epworth 
Eastern hospital, to her last Executive role as Executive Director Finance and 
Commercial Services (CFO). Her portfolio accountabilities included Finance, Payroll, 
Procurement and Supply, Facilities and Redevelopment, ITC, Internal Audit, 
Business Analytics, Corporate Governance and Risk, Health Contracts, Billing and 
Medical Records. Co-sponsoring Epworth’s Diversity and Inclusion strategy was 
another highlight of her career. Liz has been a part-time resident of Phillip Island for 
more than 20 years. Liz is a member of the Finance, Audit and Risk Committee.
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Mary Sayers

BA, Grad. Dip. HR, Master of Commerce (Research), Graduate Australian 
Institute of Company Directors (GAICD)

Mary Sayers is CEO of the National Disability Research Partnership. Mary brings a 
wealth of experience in policy, research, advocacy and service delivery across the 
public and community sectors. Mary has personal and family experience of 
disability. Mary was previously CEO of Children and Young People with Disability 
Australia and Board Director of the Australian Council of Social Services. She is a 
current Board Director of Gippsland Primary Health Network. Mary joined the Bass 
Coast Health Board in July 2024 and is a member of the Quality and Clinical 
Governance Committee and Remuneration Committee.

Nicky Chung (until 18 October 2024)

MBA, BA(Psych), CPHR 

Nicky Chung has more than 20 years of experience in people, safety and culture. 
She is a graduate with a Bachelor of Arts in Psychology and is a Certified Practitioner 
in Human Resources. Nicky completed the Senior Executive MBA program at 
Melbourne Business School, graduating in 2022 and currently serves as the CEO for 
the Australian Vietnamese Women’s Association. Nicky joined the board in July 
2022 and is a proud, active member of the Bass Coast community. She is on the 
board of South Coast FM and has been involved with Rotary since 2014. Nicky was 
appointed Deputy Chair in October 2023 and served on a number 
of BCH Committees.

Harvey Newnham (until 12 November 2024)

MBBS, FRACP, PhD, GAICD, AICGG

Harvey is an Endocrinologist and General Physician with extensive clinical 
leadership and board experience in the acute health sector. Harvey is on the board 
of the Western Health service and also chairs the board of Health Education 
Australia Limited (HEAL) which encompasses the Australasian Institute of Clinical 
Governance (AICG). Harvey was previously a board member of the Royal Melbourne 
Hospital and Better Care Victoria. Harvey continues to work clinically at Alfred 
Health, where he previously held senior clinical leadership positions.

Harvey is experienced in organisational and unit review at Health Department, 
Hospital and Clinical Unit level. Harvey’s main interests are to improve the safety, 
quality and value proposition of acute care with particular emphasis on internal 
audit of clinical services, consumer engagement and interdisciplinary teamwork. 
Harvey is an Adjunct Clinical Professor with Monash University and a senior 
member of the National Examining Panel of the RACP. Harvey was a member of the 
Finance, Audit and Risk Committee and the Quality and Clinical 
Governance Committee. 
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John Nevins | Independent Member (until 19 July 2024)

Bach. (Economics), Grad. Dip. (Public Policy), MAICD

John was an Independent Member of the BCH Finance Audit and Risk Committee. 

John has worked in Local Government, Public Transport and the Victorian Public 
Service. His previous roles include being a long-term Chief Executive Officer, 
General Manager Corporate Services, Chief Financial Officer, Internal Auditor and 
Economist. John resigned as an Independent Member on the FAR Committee 
on 19 July 2024.

Professor Georgia Soldatos | Independent Member  
(began 27 February 2025)

MBBS, FRACP, PhD, GAICD

Professor Georgia Soldatos is an Independent Member of the BCH Quality and 
Clinical Governance Committee. 

Prof Soldatos is a passionate clinician, researcher and healthcare leader. With a 
strong background in diabetes care, metabolic medicine and healthcare 
improvement, she has played a pivotal role in advancing patient-centred care 
across Victoria.

Prof Soldatos completed her MBBS in 1997 at Monash University where she worked 
as a junior doctor before pursuing advanced training in Endocrinology, 
including a PhD.

In addition to ongoing significant contribution to inpatient and outpatient clinical 
care delivery at Monash Health, Prof Soldatos has held key leadership positions, 
including Program Director for Acute, Sub-Acute and Community Services, and 
most recently was the Program Director for Medicine. Georgia has worked as a 
National Clinical Advisor for AHPRA, a Senior Medical Advisor for the Victorian 
Department of Health and is a recent graduate of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors (GAICD).

Beyond her clinical and research contributions, Prof Soldatos is involved in 
education, PhD supervision and training. She holds an Adjunct Professorship at the 
School of Clinical Sciences, Faculty of Medicine, Nursing and Health Sciences and 
an Adjunct Clinical Professorship at the School of Public Health and Preventative 
Medicine at Monash University.

Prof Soldatos is Chief Medical Officer at Monash Health and an active 
Clinical Endocrinologist.
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Board Committees

Finance, Audit and Risk Committee

Chairperson: Angelo Saridis

Deputy Chair: Liz Camilleri 

The Finance, Audit and Risk Committee is a sub-committee of the Board responsible for oversight, advice and 
recommendations to the Board regarding:

●	 financial management, including asset management.

●	 risk management, including compliance management.

●	 internal and external audit.

Independent Member: John Nevins (resigned on 19 July 2024)

Quality and Clinical Governance Committee

Chairperson: Harvey Newnham (until 12 November 2024), Simon Jemmett (from 13 November 2024)

Deputy Chair: Simon Jemmett (until 12 November 2024), Ian Thompson (acting, from 13 November 2024)

Independent Member: Professor Georgia Soldatos (began 27 February 2025) 

The Quality and Clinical Governance Committee is a sub-committee of the Board responsible for implementation 
of a strong quality and clinical governance framework, encompassing the domains of quality and safety:

●	 Leadership and culture.

●	 Consumer partnerships.

●	 Workforce.

●	 Risk management.

●	 Clinical Practice.

Remuneration Committee

Chairperson: Ian Thompson 

The Remuneration Committee is a sub-committee of the Board responsible for facilitating the remuneration and 
performance processes for the Chief Executive Officer. 

Development Council

This committee is currently in abeyance.
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Chairperson, 
Mim Kershaw

Community Advisory Committee

Chairperson: Mim Kershaw

The primary role of the Community Advisory Committee is to bring the voice of 
consumers, carers and community members into BCH’s decision-making 
processes, ensuring their involvement in planning, design, delivery and evaluation 
of healthcare at individual level, as well as program, department and 
health service level.

Retirement, Re-appointments and Appointments to the 
Board of Directors
The following occurred in 2024–25:

Resignations
Nicky Chung 1 July 2022 to 18 October 2024
Harvey Newnham 1 July 2022 to 12 November 2024
Simon Jemmett 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2025 
Re-appointments
Ian Leong 1 July 2024 to 1 July 2027
Appointments
Julia Oxley 1 July 2024 to 1 July 2027
Mary Sayers 1 July 2024 to 1 July 2027

Board Membership and Meeting Attendance
The table below provides information on board membership and meeting attendance for 2024–25.

Board Member Board of 
Directors

Finance, Audit 
and Risk 
Committee

Quality and 
Clinical 
Governance 
Committee

Community 
Advisory 
Committee

Ian Thompson 91% 80% 100% -
Angelo Saridis 73% 100% - -
Elizabeth Camilleri 82% 80% - -
Harvey Newnham 100% 100% 100% -
Ian Leong 100% 100% - 100%
Kate Jungwirth 91% 80% - -
Julia Oxley 100% 100% - 86%
Mary Sayers 73% - 100% -
Nicky Chung 100% - - -
Simon Jemmett 82% 60% 100% -
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•	 Deputy CMO & Clinical Director 
UCC, Raja Devanathan
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﻿BCH Executive
Interim Chief Executive Officer | Professor Simone Alexander

GAICD, MHAdmin, MClinNurs, BN

Simone has more than 25 years’ experience in the healthcare sector. She comes to 
BCH from Alfred Health, where she also continues to serve as Deputy 
Chief Executive. 

As a Registered Nurse by profession, Simone has an extensive clinical background in 
perioperative nursing and clinical leadership of many areas including The Alfred and 
Sandringham Hospital’s Emergency Departments, ICU, Hyperbaric, Surgical 
Services, Cardiology, General Medicine, Neurosciences, Hospital in the Home and 
inpatient wards.

Simone is also an Adjunct Clinical Professor at Monash University’s Department of 
Medicine, Central Clinical School, Faculty of Medicine, Nursing and Health Sciences. 

Simone holds Master’s Degrees in Health Management and in Clinical Nursing, is a 
graduate of the Australian Institute of Company Directors and has recently 
completed an Executive Leadership Certificate in Public Health at 
Harvard University.

Chief Executive Officer | Jan Child  
(until 31 October 2024)

Reg. Nurse, Grad. Dip. Behavioural Science, Master Public Health, GAICD

Jan is a Registered Nurse with post-graduate qualifications in behavioural sciences, 
health administration and a Masters in Public Health. She is a graduate of the 
Australian Institute of Company Directors and a surveyor with the Australian 
Council of Healthcare Services. She has more than 30 years’ experience in public 
health, having trained in rural western Victoria and then worked across 
metropolitan Melbourne including at Peninsula Health, Alfred Health, the 
Department of Health and Human Services, alcohol and drug agencies, and the 
community health sector. Jan was appointed as Chief Executive Officer in 
September 2016 following a six-month interim role commencing in March 2016. Jan 
resigned from her successful tenure at BCH, finishing on 31 October 2024.



25

Chief Operating Officer/Director of Nursing | Christine Henderson

Reg. Nurse, Grad. Dip. Renal Nursing, Grad. Cert. Infection Prevention 
& Control, MAICD

Chris is a Registered Nurse with post-graduate qualifications in infection control and 
renal nursing. Chris has more than 30 years’ experience in the health care sector. 
She has served in various leadership roles within BCH. She was appointed to the 
role of Executive Director of Clinical Services in January 2021. Chris then became 
Executive Director of People and Culture, and Acute Clinical Services. Chris is 
currently the Chief Operating Officer/Director of Nursing.

Executive Director of Quality, Health Information, Technology and 
Support Services | Emilia Pezzi

Bachelor of Health Information Management

Emilia holds a Bachelor of Health Information Management with more than 20 
years’ experience in providing strategic leadership and governance in public and 
private health services, including Peninsula Health, Eastern Health and St Vincent’s 
and Mercy Private Hospital.

She is a member of the Health Information Management Association of Australia 
and was the Convenor of the Victorian Senior HIM Community of Practice for more 
than 7 years. 

She has had extensive management and collaboration experience with all levels of 
health service staff, consumers, vendors and government. Emilia was appointed to 
the role of Director Information, Data Integrity and Systems Governance in January 
2020 before taking on the role of Acting Executive Director Corporate Services in 
August 2021. Emilia is now Executive Director of Quality, Health Information, 
Technology and Support Services.

Chief Financial Officer | Shaun Brooks

B. Commerce, Grad. Dip. Chartered Accounting, GAICD 

Shaun has a Bachelor of Commerce and a Graduate Diploma of Chartered 
Accounting, and has been a member of the BCH Executive team since 2017. Shaun 
held previous leadership positions in the financial professional services industry and 
has worked in the Victorian Public Health Sector for 13 years. Shaun is also BCH’s 
Chief Procurement Officer and has responsibility for Contracts, Payroll, Asset 
Management and Finance.
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Chief Medical Officer | Dr Renee Kelsall

MBBS (Hons), FRACP, AFRACMA

Renee Kelsall graduated from Monash University with honours in 2007 and 
obtained her Fellowship in Geriatrics in 2015. Renee worked at Monash Health as a 
Geriatrician, with roles including Deputy Clinical Lead of InReach, Geriatrician in the 
Falls and Balance Clinic, falls education across Monash Health, and providing 
assessments for rehabilitation and aged care. 

Renee returned to South Gippsland in 2015, where she was raised, to provide a 
private Geriatric outpatient service. 

Renee was appointed as the Chief Medical Officer at Bass Coast Health in 2020 and 
completed an Associate Fellowship of Medical Administrators in 2021. 

Executive Director of Primary and Community Clinical Services | 
Kirsten Weinzierl

Reg. Nurse, Post Grad. Critical Care, Blood Transfusion and Clinical Simulation

Kirsten is an experienced nurse and healthcare leader with more than 25 years of 
service across the healthcare sector. Holding post-graduate qualifications in Critical 
Care, Blood Transfusion and Clinical Simulation, Kirsten has continued to further 
develop skills in complex community health needs. Throughout her career, she has 
held a range of leadership roles, driving innovation and improvement 
in patient care. 

Her key achievements include the development of nursing programs and successful 
expansion of health services across Bass Coast Shire, with a particular focus on 
meeting the growing needs of the Phillip Island community. Deeply passionate 
about advancing healthcare delivery, Kirsten is committed to building strong teams, 
enhancing patient experiences and ensuring accessible, high quality service for 
her local community.
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Executive Director of Community Engagement and Philanthropy | 
Sue Hunt AM (29 April 2024 – 17 July 2024)

Bachelor of Arts, MAICD

Sue served as Chief Executive Officer (CEO) at the Royal Children’s Hospital (RCH) 
Foundation from 2010. Prior to this Sue was inaugural CEO of contemporary arts 
space, CarriageWorks, Sydney; Director of Performing Arts for the Sydney Opera 
House; CEO of the Queensland Theatre Company; and CEO of the Geelong 
Performing Arts Centre. Her voluntary community roles include Chair of Regional 
Arts Victoria and Auspicious Arts Projects. She is an alumna of the Strategic 
Perspectives in Non-Profit Management course at Harvard Business School and the 
Williamson Community Leadership Program. Sue was appointed a Member of the 
Order of Australia (AM) in 2023 for her services to the arts and to community health.

Sue commenced in her role of Executive Director of Community Engagement and 
Philanthropy at Bass Coast Health on 29 April 2024 and finished on 17 July 2024.
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  Freedom of Information Act 1982
In accordance with the Freedom of Information Act 1982, the public can request access to documents held at BCH 
via a written application directly to BCH’s Principal Freedom of Information (FOI) Officer, or by completing the 
Freedom of Information Access Request Form available on the BCH website. A valid request must clearly identify 
what types of documents are being sought and to whom the information is to be released. The valid request must 
also be accompanied by an application fee. BCH is required to respond to the applicant within 30 days of receiving 
a valid request.

Requests are to be addressed to:

Principal FOI Officer 
Bass Coast Health 
PO Box 120 
Wonthaggi Vic. 3995

BCH’s Principal Officer is the Chief Executive Officer.

An application fee of $31.80 applies and other charges may be incurred associated with collating the information, 
levied strictly in accordance with the Freedom of Information (Access Charges) Regulation 2004.

During 2024–25, Bass Coast Health received 137 applications. Of these requests, 1 was from a Member of 
Parliament and 136 were from legal and insurance firms, and the general public.

Bass Coast Health made 141 FOI decisions during the 12 months ended 30 June 2025. 

There were 109 decisions made within the statutory time periods. Of the decisions made outside time, 17 were 
made within 45 days and 15 decisions were made in greater than 45 days. 

Of the total decisions made, 138 granted access to documents in full, 2 granted access in part and 1 denied 
access in full.

Of requests finalised, the average number of days over/under the statutory time (including extended timeframes) 
to decide the request was 25 days. 

During 2024–25, there were no requests subject to a complaint/internal review by Office of the Victorian 
Information Commissioner. 

  Building Act 1993
Bass Coast Health complies with the building and maintenance provisions of the Building Act 1993.

BCH obtains building permits for new projects and all certificates of occupancy are completed by a registered 
building surveyor.

BCH controls a number of properties across three main sites, including addresses at Wonthaggi Hospital, Griffiths 
Point Lodge, Kirrak House, San Remo Community Health and Phillip Island Community Hospital. The main 
campus is located in Wonthaggi.

Legislative Compliance
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In 2024–25 BCH received two Certificates of Final Inspection as required.

BCH had no emergency orders or building orders issued in relation to the buildings it owns or operates.

Victorian Health Building Authority is managing the construction of Phillip Island Community Hospital, which 
connects to the existing Phillip Island Health Hub. Practical Completion of Stage 1 of Phillip Island Community 
Hospital was achieved in May 2025, with an occupancy permit issued for this. Stage 2 is due for completion 
later in 2025.

BCH has had several major works projects above $50,000 in cost. These have included Rotary Rehabilitation 
Garden and the sprinkler system project. Where required, appropriate building permits were sought 
and approved.

  Public Interest Disclosure Act 2012
BCH is subject to, and complies with, the Public Interest Disclosure Act 2012 (updated 2020–2021) that replaced the 
former Protected Disclosures Act 2012. The Public Interest Disclosure Act 2012 came into effect with a purpose to 
facilitate disclosures of improper conduct by public officers, public bodies and to provide the appropriate level of 
protection for people who make disclosures without fear of reprisal. Further information is embedded into the 
PID Policy for BCH. Staff access is available through the Staff document repository, PROMPT.

There have been no disclosures notified to the Independent Broad-based Anti-corruption Commission (IBAC) 
under section 21(2) during the financial year.

  Statement on National Competition Policy
Bass Coast Health is committed to ensuring that services and processes demonstrate both quality and efficiency. 
Competitive neutrality, which supports the National Competition Policy, assists to ensure any net competitive 
advantages of a government business are managed. Bass Coast Health understands the requirements of 
competitive neutrality and acts accordingly, complying with the Competitive Neutrality Policy Victoria and any 
subsequent reforms that relate to expenditure, infrastructure projects and partnerships between private and 
public sectors. Openness and fairness are key principles embedded in Bass Coast Health’s 
procurement framework.

No complaints have been submitted to Bass Coast Health in relation to this policy.

  Carers Recognition Act 2012
Bass Coast Health has taken all practical measures to comply with its obligations under the 
Carers Recognition Act 2012. These include:

●	 promoting the principles of the Act to people in care relationships who receive our services and to the wider 
community. We have taken measures to comply with our obligations under the Act, ensuring the needs of 
carers are recognised and responded to when the person for whom they care for is admitted to Bass Coast 
Health or when the carer is admitted to Bass Coast Health. Carer and care relationship stories are regularly 
published on our website. 

●	 ensuring our staff have an awareness and understanding of the care relationships principles set out in the Act. 
Our Recognising Carers and Care Relationships as part of Delivering Consumer Care policy, which includes the 
care relationships principles, is available to all staff (employees and volunteers) to provide awareness and 
understanding of the care relationship principles. The policy supports our commitment to our WE CARE values 
and ensures our staff respect and recognise carers, support them as individuals, recognise their efforts and 
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dedication, take into account their views and cultural identity, recognise their social wellbeing, and provide due 
consideration of the effect of being a carer on matters of employment and education.

●	 considering the care relationships principles set out in the Act when setting policies and providing services. Our 
Recognising Carers and Care Relationships as part of Delivering Consumer Care policy documents the care 
relationship principles which provide guidance in setting policies and service provision. Our Partnering with 
Consumers, Comprehensive Care and Communicating for Safety policies include a focus on carers and 
engagement with carers. BCH Flexible Working Arrangement policy supports and encourages flexible work 
practices to which care relationships are considered.

●	 implementing priority actions in recognising and supporting Victoria’s carers. BCH Partnerships in Care 
program recognises the vital role a loved one or significant person plays in the wellbeing and recovery of our 
consumers and understands the need to have a process in place to ensure vulnerable consumers are able to be 
supported by the people who know them best. This guideline has been developed to provide guidance on how 
BCH will partner with relatives, friends and carers to support vulnerable patients and residents’ emotional and 
physical wellbeing.

There are no disclosures required to be made under the Carers Recognition Act 2012 (Vic).

  Safe Patient Care Act 2015
BCH is subject to the Safe Patient Care Act 2015 and has no matters to report in relation to its obligations under 
Section 40 of the Act.

    Asset Management Accountability Framework
The below compliance and maturity rating tool is an assessment of maturity against the requirements of the 
Asset Management Accountability Framework (AMAF). The AMAF is a policy that aims to ensure an agency’s asset 
base addresses its service delivery objectives and requires compliance with 41 mandatory requirements. BCH 
meets the target maturity level in most requirements of the categories relating to planning, acquisition and 
disposal. BCH is at the developing stage for some components of asset performance and information. During the 
year, BCH made good progress to embed improvements relating to asset management roles and responsibilities 
and assurance processes. 

BCH is introducing an asset management information system (AIMS) to streamline and improve processes to 
monitor the life cycle of assets to better assist with monitoring asset performance and managing asset 
information. Evaluation and selection of an AIMS vendor has been completed with implementation nearing 
completion, with a go-live anticipated in the second quarter of 2025–26 financial year. The chosen system will 
look to improve asset information central availability and include all key data to assist with stock-taking, 
forecasting, service and maintenance. It will also commence recording performance information directly linked to 
assets which are all noted improvement areas within the AMAF for Bass Coast Health. Preparation work for the 
new system includes collation of manually recorded asset registers into a central spreadsheet.

The graphic on the next page shows the maturity level of our asset management against each of the 41 
assessment criteria, with our current status in blue and the target status in red.

The external numbers reflect each of the 41 assessment criteria. Numbers 1–19 are Leadership and Accountability, 
20–23 are Planning, 24 and 25 are Acquisition, 26–40 are Operation and 41 is Disposal.
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  Disclosure of review and study expenses
This year we have progressed with delivering key aspects outlined in our Research Strategic Plan 2024–2029 to 
improve clinical trial access and deliver high quality research that improves the patient experience and health 
outcomes of our community. 

We have continued work to integrate clinical trial services into the organisation and develop processes to align 
with the National Clinical Trials Governance Framework to ensure strong governance and support the delivery of 
high-quality clinical trials.

We have implemented the Teletrial model of trial delivery and developed the research section of the BCH website 
to promote research opportunities and clinical trials participation. This includes the addition of a video resource 
addressing clinical trials barriers for Culturally and Linguistically Diverse communities and a TrialScreen link to 
support consumers to find clinical trials suitable for them.

We have expanded and built the capacity of our Clinical Trials and Research Unit (CTRU) workforce by adding the 
Research Unit Manager and Clinical Trial Coordinator roles, and developing and implementing a Clinical Trials 
Induction Program, CTRU Induction Manual and Research Nurse/Clinical Trial Coordinator Competency 
Framework. In preparation for our involvement in medication trials, the BCH Director and Deputy Director of 
Pharmacy completed the Clinical Trials Pharmacy Train-the-Trainer Program through Alfred Health to enable 
them to upskill the Pharmacy team in the conduct of clinical trials.

Our partnership with TrialHub continues to support the growth of our clinical trials program and we have 
representation on the Gippsland Clinical Trials Working Group and Latrobe Regional Health Human Research 
Ethics Committee.

We have contributed to six clinical registries to improve the quality of care for our consumers and been involved in 
the conduct of six health research projects. A total of 211 new participants have been recruited to clinical trials at 
BCH during this year. The ACEMID Cohort Study currently has 389 participants with recruitment ongoing. One 
new clinical trial in health service research commenced in our Haemodialysis Unit in December 2024.

This year we were involved in the conduct of three clinical trials. The cost of the three clinical trials below was 
$167,000. This was partially funded ($152,940) via Alfred Health’s agreement with the Victorian Melanoma Service 
and the Monash University Study Agreement.
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Research Activity

Clinical Trials

Trial Name IMAGE (02.19): Melanoma 
surveillance photography 
(MSP) to Improve early 
detection of MelanomA 
in ultra-hiGh and high 
risk patiEnts (IMAGE – 
capitalisation intentional)

Australian Centre of 
Excellence in Melanoma 
Imaging & Diagnosis 
(ACEMID) Cohort Study

Symptom monitoring WIth 
Feedback Trial (SWIFT – 
capitalisation intentional)

Reason for 
undertaking 
the review/
study

To address the critical gaps 
in evidence for comparative 
safety, clinical and cost 
effectiveness of Melanoma 
Surveillance Photography. To 
support the Medical Services 
Advisory Committee to make 
an informed recommendation 
about Medicare Benefits 
Schedule listing of Melanoma 
Surveillance Photography.

To contribute to delivering 
a network of advanced skin 
surface technology across the 
Australian eastern seaboard 
for the monitoring of skin 
lesions and the early detection 
of melanoma and other 
skin cancers.

To contribute to improving 
the quality of life and overall 
survival for people on dialysis.

Terms of 
reference/
scope

Recruitment of 20–50 
trial participants. Conduct 
all protocol-mandated 
requirements for each 
eligible participant.

Recruitment of 700 trial 
participants. Conduct 
all protocol-mandated 
requirements for each 
eligible participant.

To invite BCH haemodialysis 
patients who are registered 
on the ANZDATA registry 
to participate in the trial; 
estimated 20 participants. 
Conduct all protocol-mandated 
requirements for each 
eligible participant.

Anticipated 
outcomes

To determine whether 
surveillance using Melanoma 
Surveillance Photography 
compared to standard care (ie. 
clinical surveillance without 
Melanoma Surveillance 
Photography) results 
in improved diagnostic 
performance. 
To determine the cost-
effectiveness of Melanoma 
Surveillance Photography from 
a health system perspective.

To significantly improve lesion 
identification and tracking 
in combination with greatly 
reducing appointment 
time and decreasing 
healthcare costs.

To assess if symptom 
monitoring with feedback to 
clinicians (nephrologists and 
nurses) and patients improves 
health-related quality of life 
and cause-specific mortality.
To assess if electronic capture 
of patient reported outcomes 
within a clinical quality registry 
is cost-effective.

Status Follow-up:
Last BCH participant follow-up 
visits occurred in November 
2024 and final follow-up visits 
for the study overall were due 
to be completed in April 2025. 
Data cleaning is in process and 
the trial is anticipated to close 
by 31 October 2025.

Recruiting. Commenced 
August 2023; 378 participants 
recruited to 31 May 2025.

Follow-up:
16 participants recruited; 
baseline and six-month 
visits completed.
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Trial Name IMAGE (02.19): Melanoma 
surveillance photography 
(MSP) to Improve early 
detection of MelanomA 
in ultra-hiGh and high 
risk patiEnts (IMAGE – 
capitalisation intentional)

Australian Centre of 
Excellence in Melanoma 
Imaging & Diagnosis 
(ACEMID) Cohort Study

Symptom monitoring WIth 
Feedback Trial (SWIFT – 
capitalisation intentional)

Estimated cost BCH does not have this 
information available.

BCH does not have this 
information available.

BCH does not have this 
information available.

Actual cost BCH does not have this 
information available.

BCH does not have this 
information available.

BCH does not have this 
information available.

Publicly 
available (Y/N) 
and URL

Y
https://www.masc.org.au/
image/

Y
https://acemid.centre.uq.edu.
au/

Y
https://ctc.usyd.edu.au/our-
research/research-areas/
cardiovascular/active-trials/
swift/

Registries

Registry Name Anticipated outcomes Terms of 
reference/scope

Reason for being a part 
of the Registry

Publicly available 
(Y/N) and URL

Australian 
Orthopaedic 
National Joint 
Replacement 
Registry 
(AOANJRR)

Improved quality of care 
for individuals receiving 
joint replacement surgery.

To collect and 
contribute 
information on 
joint replacement 
surgery (hip, 
knee, shoulder, 
elbow, wrist, ankle 
and spinal disc) 
undertaken at BCH.

To improve and maintain 
the quality of care for 
individuals receiving joint 
replacement surgery.

Y
https://aoanjrr.
sahmri.com/

Australian 
Dementia 
Network 
(ADNeT) 
Registry

The Australian Dementia 
Network (ADNeT) 
Registry has been 
established to improve 
clinical care for people 
with dementia and mild 
cognitive impairment.

To register all BCH 
patients newly 
diagnosed with 
either dementia 
or mild cognitive 
impairment.

To better understand 
the patient experience 
of diagnosis and 
clinical care. 
To access BCH registry 
data that can be used 
for our own quality 
audits, research and/
or reporting. This will 
be used to improve 
diagnosis and clinical care 
for patients diagnosed 
with dementia and mild 
cognitive impairment.

Y
https://www.
australiandementia 
network.org.au/

https://www.masc.org.au/image/
https://www.masc.org.au/image/
https://acemid.centre.uq.edu.au/
https://acemid.centre.uq.edu.au/
https://ctc.usyd.edu.au/our-research/research-areas/cardiovascular/active-trials/swift/
https://ctc.usyd.edu.au/our-research/research-areas/cardiovascular/active-trials/swift/
https://ctc.usyd.edu.au/our-research/research-areas/cardiovascular/active-trials/swift/
https://ctc.usyd.edu.au/our-research/research-areas/cardiovascular/active-trials/swift/
https://aoanjrr.sahmri.com/
https://aoanjrr.sahmri.com/
https://www.australiandementianetwork.org.au/
https://www.australiandementianetwork.org.au/
https://www.australiandementianetwork.org.au/
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Registry Name Anticipated outcomes Terms of 
reference/scope

Reason for being a part 
of the Registry

Publicly available 
(Y/N) and URL

Monitoring and 
Evaluation of 
Victoria State 
Trauma Registry 
(VSTORM)

The registry was 
developed to capture 
information on all trauma 
patients in Victoria 
from 2001. 
To gather and interpret 
information about causes 
of traumatic injury and 
treatment from trauma 
services across Victoria. 
To work to improve 
quality of trauma care 
across Victoria, and to 
identify and reduce major 
risk factors for trauma in 
the community. 
To reduce preventable 
deaths and permanent 
disability from major 
trauma.

To collect and 
contribute 
information on 
all major trauma 
patients that 
present to BCH.

To contribute to the 
ongoing monitoring 
and evaluation of the 
state-wide system for 
trauma management 
that is designed to reduce 
preventable death and 
permanent disability 
resulting from major 
trauma.

Y
https://www.
monash.edu/
medicine/sphpm/
vstorm

Australian 
Stroke Clinical 
Registry 
(AUSCR)

The Australian Stroke 
Clinical Registry collects 
information about what 
happens to people who 
have had a stroke or 
a transient ischaemic 
attack (sometimes called 
a ‘mini-stroke’ or TIA).

To register all 
patients who 
present to BCH 
with a diagnosis of 
stroke or TIA.

To access BCH registry 
data that can be used for 
our own quality audits, 
research and/or reporting 
to improve hospital 
care and the outcomes 
experienced by people 
with stroke or TIA.

Y
https://auscr.com.
au/

Victorian Cardiac 
Outcomes 
Registry (VCOR)

VCOR collects highly 
standardised data about 
patients undergoing 
relevant cardiac 
treatments, procedures 
and interventions, 
and follow-up data on 
medical outcomes and 
complications up to 30 
days after a patient has 
been discharged from 
hospital. The aim is to 
improve the quality of care 
provided to patients with 
cardiovascular disease.

To collect and 
contribute 
information on all 
relevant cardiac 
outcomes for 
BCH patients.

To access BCH registry 
data that can be used for 
our own quality audits, 
research and/or reporting 
to improve the quality of 
care provided to patients 
with cardiovascular 
disease.

Y
https://www.
monash.edu/
medicine/sphpm/
vcor

Victorian 
Ambulance 
Cardiac Arrest 
Registry (VACAR)

To assess the 
performance of the 
Victorian ambulance 
services in relation to the 
treatment and outcomes 
of patients with sudden, 
unexpected pre-hospital 
cardiac arrest.

To contribute BCH 
hospital data on 
all out-of-hospital 
cardiac arrests 
attended by 
emergency medical 
services that 
present to BCH. 

To improve the care of 
cardiac arrest patients.

Y
https://www.
ambulance.vic.
gov.au/research-
publications

https://www.monash.edu/medicine/sphpm/vstorm
https://www.monash.edu/medicine/sphpm/vstorm
https://www.monash.edu/medicine/sphpm/vstorm
https://www.monash.edu/medicine/sphpm/vstorm
https://auscr.com.au/
https://auscr.com.au/
https://www.monash.edu/medicine/sphpm/vcor
https://www.monash.edu/medicine/sphpm/vcor
https://www.monash.edu/medicine/sphpm/vcor
https://www.monash.edu/medicine/sphpm/vcor
https://www.ambulance.vic.gov.au/research-publications
https://www.ambulance.vic.gov.au/research-publications
https://www.ambulance.vic.gov.au/research-publications
https://www.ambulance.vic.gov.au/research-publications
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Health Research 

Research Name Anticipated 
outcomes

Terms of reference/
scope

Reason for taking 
part in the research 

Publicly available 
(Y/N) and URL

Generation Victoria 
(Gen-V)

GenV is a state-wide 
research program 
that will give a 
complete picture 
of the health and 
wellbeing of a whole 
generation.

To contribute BCH 
data for children born 
between 4 October 
2021 and 3 October 
2023, and their 
parents who are living 
in Victoria.

To help prevent, 
predict and treat the 
issues facing children 
and families.

Y
https://www.genv.
org.au/

Challenges in the 
transition through 
prevocational 
training and the 
implications for the 
rural workforce

It is anticipated the 
results will improve 
policy development 
around recruitment 
and retention of 
practitioners in rural 
communities.

For recruitment, 
Directors of Clinical 
Training deliver 
the invitation to 
prevocational doctors 
and supervisors of 
prevocational doctors 
at BCH. They will 
be provided with 
links to surveys and 
the option of being 
involved in focus 
group interviews.

To explore in the 
early career medical 
workforce the 
challenges involved in 
transitioning through 
pre-vocational 
medical training that 
may contribute to the 
rural doctor shortage 
and to help us 
understand what can 
be done to address 
these challenges.

N

Clinical Teaching and 
Education Pathway 
Evaluation

The purpose of this 
project is to measure 
the impact of Monash 
Rural Health’s 
Clinical Teaching 
and Education 
Pathway (CTEP) on 
the quality of medical 
education happening 
in the nexus between 
our hospitals 
and clinical school.

BCH doctors 
participating in CTEP 
will be invited to 
participate in the 
CTEP evaluation 
program which 
includes survey 
completion and 
reflective interviews.

To ensure that 
medical education 
being delivered at 
BCH is impactful 
and supported. This 
may have flow on 
impact for workforce 
resourcing. If medical 
students and doctors 
have a positive 
experience, they are 
more likely to stay 
long-term.

N

Safer Care Victoria 
100,000 Lives 
Evaluation

Evaluation of the 
overall 100,000 
Lives Program to 
understand its 
implementation and 
impact. The program 
evaluation will assess 
the effectiveness 
of this program 
in improving the 
longer-term safety 
and quality of health 
services and will 
be used to develop 
future SCV work.

BCH staff involved 
in the Postpartum 
Haemorrhage 
improvement 
project as part of 
the 100,000 Lives 
initiatives will be 
invited to participate 
in an online 
survey, interview 
or focus groups, or 
observation about 
the implementation, 
outcomes and impact 
of the 100,000 Lives 
program.

To reduce avoidable 
admissions, prevent 
harm and ensure 
people receive 
the best care. The 
evaluation will assess 
the effectiveness of 
the BCH Postpartum 
Haemorrhage 
improvement project 
in improving safety 
and quality.

Y
https://www.
safercare.vic.gov.au/
news/together-we-
will-improve-100000-
victorian-lives

https://www.genv.org.au/
https://www.genv.org.au/
https://www.safercare.vic.gov.au/news/together-we-will-improve-100000-victorian-lives
https://www.safercare.vic.gov.au/news/together-we-will-improve-100000-victorian-lives
https://www.safercare.vic.gov.au/news/together-we-will-improve-100000-victorian-lives
https://www.safercare.vic.gov.au/news/together-we-will-improve-100000-victorian-lives
https://www.safercare.vic.gov.au/news/together-we-will-improve-100000-victorian-lives
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Research Name Anticipated 
outcomes

Terms of reference/
scope

Reason for taking 
part in the research 

Publicly available 
(Y/N) and URL

Management of 
traumatic dental 
injuries by regional 
emergency and first 
responder clinicians: 
an educational 
intervention study

This study aims 
to inform/guide 
collaborative 
educational 
endeavours in 
regional/rural 
services on the topic 
of traumatic dental 
injuries (TDIs).

Emergency clinical 
staff at BCH will be 
invited to participate 
in a survey about 
TDIs; capacity and 
confidence will be 
assessed. 
The intervention 
will be a 30-minute 
tutorial at BCH 
Wonthaggi on the 
assessment and 
management of TDIs 
given by a dentist.
Two to four 
weeks following 
intervention, 
participants will 
complete a second 
survey covering 
confidence, TDI-
specific knowledge, 
suggestions for 
further training and 
perceived barriers.

The prevalence of 
TDIs presenting 
to emergency 
departments is 
increasing and 
knowledge of 
management of TDIs 
is critical for optimal 
outcomes.
Aim to improve the 
skills and training 
of BCH emergency 
clinicians to provide 
initial management 
of TDIs.

N

Exploring the 
lived experiences 
of regional 
hospital generalist 
nurses involved 
in Occupational 
Violence and 
Aggression (OVA) by 
patients and visitors: 
A phenomenological 
study

To gain an 
understanding of 
regional hospital 
generalist ward 
nurses’ lived 
experiences of OVA, 
which would inform 
the development 
of policies and 
guidelines to mitigate 
risk and improve 
post-incident 
support.

This qualitative study 
will incorporate semi-
structured interviews 
of Registered Nurses 
working on the 
general ward at BCH.

To improve our 
understanding 
of preventative 
strategies to 
mitigate the risk 
of Occupational 
Violence and 
Aggression.

N
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 Environmental performance
For the purposes of the reporting of environmental data by Government entities under FRD24, BCH is classified as 
a level 3b (Sub-regional hospital) tiered reporting entity.

Requirement Source 2024–25
ELECTRICITY USAGE
EL1. Total electricity 
consumption segmented by 
source (MWh). Purchased 
directly through an electricity 
retailer (including State 
Purchasing Contracts, 
HealthShare Victoria contracts 
or other retail contracts):
•	Main sites
•	Accommodation
•	Other

Facilities/Alinta From Alinta:
Phillip Island Health Hub – 272.87 MWh
Wonthaggi Hospital – 3,312.68 MWh
Griffiths Point Lodge – 80.30 MWh
San Remo Community Health – 82.81 MWh
Rental properties – 100.34 MWh 
 
Total: 3,849 MWh 

EL2 – On-site electricity 
generated (in megawatt hours) 
for large-scale renewable energy 
systems, (i.e., accredited under 
the Large-Scale Renewable 
Energy Target), small-scale 
renewable energy systems 
(where data is available), and 
any other electricity generation 
system (where data is available), 
segmented by:
•	Wind
•	Solar PV
•	Bioenergy

Facilities/Solar 
Analytics

Solar – 537.902 MWh
Wind – N/A
Bioenergy – N/A

EL3 – On-site installed 
generation capacity in 
megawatts (as at end of 
reporting period) segmented by:
•	Wind
•	Solar PV
•	Bioenergy

Facilities Solar PV:
Wonthaggi Hospital: 0.443 MW
Wonthaggi Hospital Expansion: 0.300 MW
Griffiths Point Lodge: 0.030MW
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Requirement Source 2024–25
ELECTRICITY USAGE (continued)
EL4 – Total electricity offsets (in 
megawatt hours) segmented by 
offset type including: 
•	LGCs voluntarily retired by the 

entity 
•	LGCs voluntarily retired on the 

entity’s behalf 
•	GreenPower or certified 

carbon neutral electricity 
purchased (e.g., through a 
retailer’s contract option) 

•	LGCs mandatorily retired 
(for RET liable entities only) 
or LGCs conveyed to an 
entity’s retailer for mandatory 
retirement (where relevant)

Facilities GreenPower: 0
RPP (Renewable Power Percentage in the grid): 0
ELA Total electricity offsets [MWh]: 0

STATIONARY FUEL USAGE
F1 – Total fuels used in buildings 
and machinery (in megajoules), 
segmented by fuel type (e.g., 
natural gas, LPG, diesel, petrol)

Facilities (natural gas 
and LPG) via manual 
computation

Natural Gas: 13,748,040 MJ
LPG: 1,004,852 MJ 
Diesel: 157,102 MJ
Petrol: N/A

F2. Greenhouse gas emissions 
from stationary fuel 
consumption segmented by fuel 
type (tonnes CO2-e)

Facilities (natural gas 
and LPG) via manual 
computation

Natural Gas: 708.437 tonnes CO2
LPG: 60.894 tonnes CO2
Diesel: 11.029 tonnes CO2
Petrol: N/A

T1. Total energy used in 
transportation within the entity 
(in litres) segmented by fuel type

Supply (diesel and 
petrol) via WEX 
Motorpass

Diesel: 13,696 litres
Petrol: 32,226 litres

T2. Number and proportion of 
vehicles in the organisational 
boundary segmented by engine/
fuel type (e.g., petrol, diesel, 
hybrid electric, plug-in hybrid 
electric, battery electric) and 
vehicle category

Supply (diesel and 
petrol) via CarPool

Diesel: 7 vehicles
Petrol: 2 vehicles
Hybrid: 37 vehicles

T3. Greenhouse gas emissions 
from vehicle fleet segmented by 
fuel type and vehicle category 
(tonnes CO2-e) – total

Supply (diesel and 
petrol) via WEX 
Motorpass

Small: Hybrid – 34 Tonnes CO2-e; Petrol – 0 Tonnes Co2-e
SUV: Hybrid – 35 Tonnes CO2-e; Petrol – 0 Tonnes CO2-e
Utility: Petrol – 6 Tonnes CO2-e
Van: Petrol – 33 Tonnes CO2-e

T4. Total distance travelled 
by commercial air travel 
(passenger kilometres) 

People and Culture
Community Relations

332,684km
(BCH paid for flights for international staff to relocate to 
Australia).
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Requirement Source 2024–25
TOTAL ENERGY USAGE 
E1. Total energy usage from 
fuels (megajoules)

Supply 
Facilities

Supply: 1,604,182 MJ
Facilities: 14,909,994 MJ
Total: 16,514,176 MJ

E2. Total energy usage from 
electricity (megajoules) 

Facilities 4,387 MWh = 15,792,866 MJ

E3. Total energy usage 
(megajoules) segmented into 
renewable and non-renewable 
sources 

Facilities
Supply

Renewable: 537.902 MWh = 1,936,447.2 MJ
Non-renewable: E1 + E2 = 32,307,042 MJ

E4. Units of energy used 
normalised by FTE, headcount, 
floor area or other entity or 
sector specific quantity

Supply Total usage (E1+E2) divided by Total FTE (730.2) = 
44,244.10 MJ per 1.0 FTE

SUSTAINABLE BUILDING AND INFRASTRUCTURE 
B1. Discuss how 
environmentally sustainable 
design (ESD) is incorporated into 
newly completed entity-owned 
buildings (qualitative)

Facilities As part of the design process of new builds, 
Environmentally Sustainable Design principles are 
included. Items such as thermal performance, air 
tightness, water efficient sanitary fixtures, waste 
management strategies and Indoor Environmental quality 
are all considered. In addition, initiatives such as recycled 
water reuse, solar panels and provision for electric vehicles 
are considered where budget allows.

B2. Discuss how new entity 
leases meet the requirement 
to preference higher-rated 
office buildings and those 
with a Green Lease Schedule 
(qualitative)

Support Services N/A. We do not have any new leased spaces. 

B3. NABERS Energy (National 
Australian Built Environment 
Rating System) ratings of newly 
completed/occupied entity-
owned office buildings and 
substantial tenancy fit-outs 

Executive Energy: 4.5 stars 
Water: 4 stars 

B4 – Environmental 
performance ratings (e.g. 
NABERS, Green Star or 
Infrastructure Sustainability 
Council of Australia 
Infrastructure Sustainability 
rating scheme) of newly 
completed entity-owned non-
office building or infrastructure 
projects or upgrades with a 
value over $1 million, where 
these ratings have been 
conducted (relevant rating, 
itemised)

Executive Not applicable. No new infrastructure was completed in 
May 2025 and no ratings have been conducted. 
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Requirement Source 2024–25
SUSTAINABLE BUILDING AND INFRASTRUCTURE (continued)
B5. Environmental performance 
ratings achieved for entity-
owned assets portfolio 
segmented by rating scheme 
and building, facility or 
infrastructure type, where these 
ratings have been conducted 
(number at each rating) 

Support Services BCH does not have access to this information.

SUSTAINABLE PROCUREMENT
Entities have annual reporting 
requirements under the Social 
Procurement Framework and 
should address progress against 
sustainable procurement 
objectives as part of 
that reporting 

Contracts Bass Coast Health complies with all mandatory sustainable 
procurement requirements and adheres to HealthShare 
Victoria procurement policies.
Social Procurement evaluation criteria are included 
requirements and used in the assessment of tender 
outcomes where appropriate.

WATER CONSUMPTION
W1. Total units of metered water 
consumed by water source 
(kilolitres) 

Facilities via manual 
computation

March 2024-April 2025 (last four billings): 34,335 Kl

W2. Units of metered water 
consumed normalised by FTE, 
headcount, floor area or other 
entity or sector specific quantity

Facilities via manual 
computation

Total Water used (W1) divided by FTE
= 34,335/730.2 = 47.02Kl/FTE

WASTE AND RECYCLING
WR1. Total units of waste 
disposed of by disposal method 
(kg and percentage of total) for 
the following material types/
stream: 
•	General Waste
•	Cardboard/Paper
•	Recycling
•	E-Waste

Support Services
Information 
Technology

General Waste: 196,089kg annual (87.06% total)
Cardboard/Paper: 20,514kg annual (9.11% total)
Recycling: 8,326kg annual (3.70% total)
E-Waste: 300kg (0.13% total)
Total: 225,229kg total waste

WR2. Dedicated collection 
services provided in offices 
(as percentage of total office 
locations) for: e-waste, printer 
cartridges, batteries and 
soft plastics

Support Services
Information 
Technology

BCH does not have access to this information.

WR3. Total units of waste 
disposed normalised by FTE, 
headcount, floor area or other 
entity or sector specific quantity, 
by disposal method

Support Services General Waste: 268.54kg annually per 1.0 FTE
Cardboard/Paper: 28.09kg annually per 1.0 FTE
Recycling: 11.40kg annually per 1.0 FTE
E-Waste: 0.41kg annually per 1.0 FTE
Total: 308.44kg annually per 1.0 FTE

WR4. Recycling rate (percentage 
of total waste by weight)

Support Services 12.8% of total waste is recycled
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Requirement Source 2024–25
GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS
G1. Total Scope One (direct) 
greenhouse gas emissions 
(tonnes CO2, CH4, N2O, other 
and CO2-e)

Facilities Fuel burned (not vehicle) total: 780.359
tonnes CO2
(Natural gas: 708.437; Diesel: 11.029; LPG: 60.894)

G2. Total Scope Two (indirect 
electricity) greenhouse gas 
emissions (tonnes CO2-e)

Facilities, using 
Carbon Footprint 
Calculator

Electricity used (E2): 2,541.544 tonnes CO2

G3. Total Scope Three (other 
indirect greenhouse gas 
emissions associated with 
commercial air travel and waste 
disposal (tonnes CO2-e)

Facilities
People and Culture
Community Relations

Commercial air travel: 
50.62 tonnes 
Waste emission (WR5): 35.38 tonnes
Indirect emissions from Stationary Energy: 404.97 tonnes
Indirect emissions from Transport Energy: 49.52 tonnes
Water emissions: 55.16 tonnes
Total Scope Three greenhouse gas emissions (tonnes 
C02e): 595.65 tonnes

 Social procurement 
Bass Coast Health has engaged three social benefit suppliers and prioritised the following Social Procurement 
Objectives during 2024–25 with a combined total spend of $115,637.

The objectives prioritised in the BCH Social Procurement Strategy are:

●	 Opportunities for Victorian Aboriginal People

●	 Opportunities for Victorians with a disability.

Summary of priority SPF Strategy objectives – Bass Coast Health 2024–25

SPF Objective Outcome Metric No. of 
Suppliers 
engaged

Total Spent ($)

Opportunities 
for Victorian 
Aboriginal People

Employment of Victorian 
Aboriginal people by 
suppliers to the Victorian 
Government.
Purchasing from Victorian 
Aboriginal businesses.

Total number of suppliers and 
total spend with Victorian 
Aboriginal Businesses 
engaged.

2 17,181

Opportunities for 
Victorians with a 
disability

Employment of Victorians 
with disability by suppliers to 
the Victorian Government.

Total number of suppliers and 
total spend with Victorian 
social enterprises led by a 
purpose for people with a 
disability and Australian 
Disability Enterprises.

1 98,456

Bass Coast Health is committed to promoting the Social Procurement Strategy and will continue to build on 
existing and new supplier relationships in 2025–26 to support this.
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 Local Jobs First Act 2003
In 2024–25 there were no projects requiring disclosure under the Local Jobs First Act 2003.

Equal Employment Opportunity
BCH actively promotes the principles of Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO) and has established processes to 
ensure that EEO principles are upheld and applied to all Human Resource (HR) activity including recruitment, 
promotion and employee education. BCH is committed to ensuring that HR activities are carried out in a fair and 
equitable manner and that they comply with all EEO legislative requirements.

Orientation and Credentialing
All employees commencing with BCH or returning to duty following a period of leave greater than 12 months are 
required to participate in an orientation program over two days. This will ensure that they understand their role, 
the broader organisation and the mandatory educational requirements required to undertake their role safely. 

New Manager Orientation provides new managers with information, systems and processes to assist them to 
meet their new management responsibilities at BCH. 

Credentialing for senior clinical employees is undertaken via the Local Credentialing Committee.

Employee Assistance Program
BCH acknowledges the importance of supporting employees, volunteers and their immediate families with the 
provision of a confidential Employee Assistance Program (EAP), providing free access to external counselling and 
support with experienced and qualified professionals.
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  Additional Information Available on Request
Details in respect of the items listed below have been retained by Bass Coast Health and are available to the 
relevant Ministers, Members of Parliament, and the public on request (subject to the freedom of information 
requirements, if applicable): 

●	 a statement that declarations of pecuniary interests have been duly completed by all relevant officers.

●	 details of shares held by a senior officer as nominee or held beneficially in a statutory authority or subsidiary.

●	 details of publications produced by the entity about itself, and how these can be obtained.

●	 details of changes in prices, fees, charges, rates and levies charged by the entity.

●	 details of any major external reviews carried out on the entity.

●	 details of major research and development activities undertaken by the entity.

●	 details of overseas visits undertaken including a summary of the objectives and outcomes of each visit.

●	 details of major promotional, public relations and marketing activities undertaken by the entity to develop 
community awareness of the entity and its services.

●	 details of assessments and measures undertaken to improve the occupational health and safety of employees.

●	 a general statement on industrial relations within the entity and details of time lost through industrial 
accidents and disputes.

●	 a list of major committees sponsored by the entity, the purposes of each committee and the extent to which 
the purposes have been achieved.

●	 details of all consultancies and contractors including:

(i)	 consultants/contractors engaged,

(ii)	 services provided, and

(iii)	 expenditure committed to for each engagement.
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Full-Time Equivalent (FTE) Employees
Bass Coast Health has applied the appropriate employment and conduct principles, and employees have been 
correctly classified in workforce data collections. FTE staff employed as at 30 June 2025.

Hospitals labour category JUNE current month FTE Average Monthly FTE

2024 2025 2024 2025

Nursing 284.2 329.7 271.5 304.9
Administration and Clerical 164.8 164.5 158.3 160.8
Medical Support 52.6 56.2 52.4 57.0
Hotel and Allied Services 81.5 82.2 80.3 78.1
Medical Officers 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Hospital Medical Officers 34.8 39.1 29.0 35.7
Sessional Clinicians 24.7 27.9 18.7 24.6
Ancillary Staff (Allied Health) 63.0 72.8 58.6 69.1

   Occupational Health and Safety (OHS) Statistics
Occupational Health and Safety Statistics 2022–23 2023–24 2024–25

The number of reported hazards/incidents for the year 
per 100 FTE

34.2 36.32 36.7

The number of ‘lost time’ standard WorkCover claims for 
the year per 100 FTE

1.87 1.49 2.1

The average cost per WorkCover claim for the year (‘000) $54,068 $103,168 $46,734

  Workforce Data
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   Occupational Violence
Occupational violence statistics 2024–25

Workcover accepted claims with an occupational violence cause per 100 FTE 0
Number of accepted Workcover claims with lost time injury with an occupational violence cause 
per 1,000,000 hours worked

0

Number of occupational violence incidents reported 147
Number of occupational violence incidents reported per 100 FTE 20.1
Percentage of occupational violence incidents resulting in a staff injury, illness or condition 0

Definitions of occupational violence 

Occupational violence – any incident where an employee is abused, threatened or assaulted in circumstances 
arising out of, or in the course of their employment.

Incident – an event or circumstance that could have resulted in, or did result in, harm to an employee. Incidents of 
all severity rating must be included. Code Grey reporting is not included, however, if an incident occurs during the 
course of a planned or unplanned Code Grey, the incident must be included.

Accepted Workcover claims – accepted Workcover claims that were lodged in 2024–25.

Lost time – is defined as greater than one day.

Injury, illness or condition – this includes all reported harm as a result of the incident, regardless of whether the 
employee required time off work or submitted a claim.

 Workforce Inclusion Policy
BCH’s Diversity Policy and Framework is its form of a ‘workforce inclusion policy’.

Over the past 12 months, the following plans have been developed, reviewed and reported via the BCH First 
Peoples Advisory Committee, Partnerships and Engagement Committee and Corporate Governance Committee: 

●	 Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Cultural Safety Plan. 

●	 Reflect Reconciliation Action Plan. 

●	 Disability Action Plan. 

Bass Coast Health has:

●	 Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander designated roles: Aboriginal Health Liaison Officer, Clinical Nurse 
Consultant, Nurse and Elder-in-Residence.

●	 developed BCH’s Aboriginal Employment Plan for financial year 2025–26. It is now being implemented.

●	 sought to understand and consider the evolving diversity of the community and diverse needs through its 
Community Advisory Committee and participation of consumers on working groups and committees.

●	 supported staff in developing and maintaining competencies and resources in providing services which are 
respectful and responsive to diverse communities through online and face-to-face Cultural Awareness Training. 

●	 supported staff in effectively communicating with consumers who are not proficient in English through a range 
of communication tools and resources including an interpreting and translating service.
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●	 worked in partnership with multicultural services, local government and the local community to promote 
consultation in decision-making, and to review and plan services to meet the needs of diverse communities 
through participating in the development of new Municipal Public Health Plans.

●	 promoted person-centred care, partnering with consumers in individual care. 

●	 communicated the principles of this policy at new staff orientation, and to Volunteers and Community Advisors 
as part of the Community Advisory Committee and volunteer orientation and ongoing training program.

Gender Equality Act 2020

Work continues to implement BCH’s Gender Equality Action Plan 2022–2025. Key areas of focus in the past 
12 months have included:

●	 continuing education on gender equality, intersectionality and inclusion. Specifically, staff were provided 
opportunities to attend a series of webinars on understanding gender affirming care options for trans and 
gender diverse young people in July and August 2024.

●	 training was provided for staff with respect to inclusive practices to support guide dogs and their handlers at 
work in November and December 2024.

●	 new initiatives in the area of leave and flexibility include the implementation of night duty education for nurses 
in 2025 and the implementation of permanent night duty for nurses and midwives.

●	 continuing to maintain relationships with local disability employment organisations and to develop pathways 
for employment, in particular in our Support Services directorate.

●	 continuing leadership development programs to build management awareness and skills in areas such as 
unconscious bias, equity in recruitment practices and diversity.

●	 commencing the roll-out of Respect @ Work with an initial focus on work-related gendered violence, including 
sexual harassment. Manager training commenced in June 2025.

●	 updating the recruitment policy to provide more guidance for managers with respect to remuneration for 
higher grade duties and secondments to ensure pay equity.

●	 the 2025 workplace gender audit, which is currently underway and due for submission on 1 December 2025. 

●	 the 2025 progress report is due for submission on 1 May 2026. 
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Part A: Strategic Priorities
The Statement of Priorities are aligned with the Strategic Plan1.

Bass Coast Health contributed to the Department of Health Strategic Plan 2023–27 by progressing against each of 
the following priorities:

Ministerial Priorities 

For the overall health system: 

1.	 A reformed health system, shifting from competition to collaboration between health services, and with 
strengthened, formalised partnerships between health services and community and primary care services to 
ensure patients receive the right care closer to home. 

2.	 A growing, skilled, and engaged workforce that is supported to develop professionally. This is achieved 
through an increased supply of critical roles, world-leading employee experience, diverse workforce skills and 
experience, and a strategic focus on future roles, capabilities, professional development, and improving and 
promoting workplace gender equality, including meeting Health Service obligations under the Gender Equality 
Act 2020. 

 3.	 A health system that is grounded in respect and safety, particularly cultural safety, and awareness, achieved 
through mandatory cultural safety training, anti-racism plans and actions, and employment plans that drive 
greater representation of First Nations people across all levels of a health service. 

4.	 Improved health equity through a focus on: 

a.	 Aboriginal health and wellbeing, achieved through identifying and closing gaps in access to care, and 
improved discharge planning for Aboriginal patients 

b.	 family-centred health models for priority populations.

5.	 A focus on women’s health, including improved access to abortion care and public fertility services, and 
reduced gender health disparities supported through the roll-out of comprehensive women’s health clinics. 

6.	 A continued focus on innovating and improving the quality and safety of care, including through 
strengthening clinical governance systems under the Victorian Clinical Governance Framework, and 
improving access to timely care by implementing strategies that improve whole of system patient flow. 

7.	 A financially sustainable health system reflected in balanced health service budgets. 

For the mental health system: 

8.	 An improved mental health system, through: 

a.	 supporting people to stay well in their communities through prevention and promotion 

b.	 growing strong, safe, and supported mental health workforces through the implementation of the mental 
health workforce strategy 

1  Link to Strategic Plan 2023–27. (https://www.health.vic.gov.au/our-strategic-plan-2023–27)

  Statement of Priorities

https://www.health.vic.gov.au/our-strategic-plan-2023-27
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c.	 supporting a system that embeds lived experience at every level 

d.	 delivering connected, new, and better community and bed-based services 

e.	 supporting better consumer outcomes through performance improvement 

f.	 elevating consumer rights and supporting cultural change in line with the principles of the Mental Health 
and Wellbeing Act 2022 

g.	 providing culturally safe services that deliver social and emotional wellbeing models for Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people. 

Supporting services for older Victorians: 

9.	 A reformed health system that responds to the needs of older people to receive the right care in the right 
place through: 

a.	 initiatives that reduce avoidable hospital presentations and length of stay for older people in hospital 

b.	 availability of public sector residential aged care.

10.	 A strengthened approach to the delivery of high quality and safe aged care services through: 

a.	 continued implementation of national aged care reforms arising from the Royal Commission into Aged 
Care Quality and Safety 

b.	 system stewardship and oversight of public aged care service delivery. 

These Ministerial priorities are reflected in 2024–25 Statements of Priorities and the Department of Health 
Strategic Plan 2023–27 (Strategic Plan).

System Priorities

Excellence in clinical governance
We aim for the best patient experience and care outcomes by assuring safe practice, leadership of safety, an engaged and 
capable workforce, and continuing to improve and innovate care.

Goals and Health Service deliverables Progress included:
Goal
MA2 Strengthen all clinical governance systems, as per the Victorian Clinical Governance Framework, to ensure 
safe, high-quality care, with a specific focus on building and maintaining a strong safety culture, identifying, 
reporting, and learning from adverse events, and early, accurate recognition and management of clinical risk to 
and deterioration of all patients.
Health Service deliverable
MA2 Improve paediatric patient outcomes by 
implementing the “ViCTOR track and trigger” observation 
chart and escalation system whenever children have 
observations taken.

Achieved and Ongoing:
•	ViCTOR charts are now embedded in the Emergency 

Department, and audits are monitored and actioned.
•	The ViCTOR chart track and trigger observation chart 

is now embedded in the electronic medical record with 
regular auditing of use. 

•	ViCTOR training is ongoing for new staff in the 
Emergency Department.
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Goals and Health Service deliverables Progress included:
Goal
MA9 Maintain a commitment to delivering equitable access to planned surgery and drive reform in alignment 
with the Planned Surgery Reform Blueprint.
Health Service deliverable
MA9 Continue to participate actively in the Gippsland 
Health Service Partnership surgical reform work.

Achieved and Ongoing:
•	BCH became fully Elective Surgery Information System 

(ESIS) reportable in June 2025 and is now working 
towards full Planned Surgery Access Policy compliance 
by June 2026.

•	Surgical reform work will continue from July 2025, in 
line with the first round of patient support unit funding, 
since becoming ESIS reportable. 

•	Although regular scheduled meetings with Gippsland 
Health Service Partnership have been completed, we 
have built solid relationships and continue to liaise with 
the team when region-wide benchmarking or issues 
arise. 

Health Service deliverable
MA9 Continue to expand partnerships with regional and 
metro services to optimise surgical activity.

Achieved and Ongoing:
•	Partnerships with Latrobe Regional and Monash Health 

to complete surgeries for long and extreme long waits 
on outpatient and Planned Surgery waitlists, established 
and completed.

•	Scoping has begun to look for opportunities within the 
Bayside amalgamation, including pathways to referral 
from The Alfred and Peninsula Health.

Health Service deliverable
MA9 Prepare Bass Coast Health for Elective Surgery 
Information System (ESIS) reporting. 

Achieved and Ongoing:
•	On 29 May BCH received notification that we could 

commence reporting planned surgery activity to the 
Department of Health through ESIS. 
This allows reportable planned surgery activity delivered 
by BCH, such as throughput, waitlist volumes and 
timeliness by urgency category, to be reported to DH. 
Data will be reported publicly through the Victorian 
Health Service Performance (VHSP) data each quarter 
and published by eHealth on the Victorian Agency for 
Health Information (VAHI) website. BCH’s 2024–25 
performance data will be included in the next scheduled 
VHSP release in August 2025. 
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Operate within budget
Ensure prudent and responsible use of available resources to achieve optimum outcomes.

Goals and Health Service deliverables Progress included:
Goal
MB1 Develop and implement a health service Budget Action Plan (BAP) in partnership with the Department to 
manage cost growth effectively to ensure the efficient operation of the health service.
Health Service deliverable
MB1 Deliver on the key initiatives as outlined in the 
Budget Action Plan. 

Achieved:
•	BCH achieved notable efficiency gains across several 

strategic priority areas. These included significant 
reductions in locum and agency expenditure, improved 
revenue performance and the successful expansion of 
clinical services, surpassing baseline activity targets. 
While the health service recorded a modest operating 
deficit of $0.8 million, the overarching objectives of 
the Budget Action Plan (BAP) were effectively met, 
reflecting disciplined financial management and 
operational focus.

Health Service deliverable
MB1 Utilise data analytics and performance metrics 
to identify areas of inefficiency and waste and make 
evidence-based decisions to improve financial 
sustainability and operational performance. 

Achieved: 
•	 In support of enhanced financial oversight, BCH 

introduced a new monthly analysis framework to 
track both employed and external workforce costs. 
Additionally, the implementation of divisional 
and program-level reporting has strengthened 
accountability and monitoring of BAP initiatives, while 
also improving forecasting accuracy and informing 
investment decisions.
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Improving equitable access to healthcare and wellbeing
Ensure that Aboriginal people have access to a health, wellbeing and care system that is holistic, culturally safe, accessible, 
and empowering. 

Ensure that communities in rural and regional areas have equitable health outcomes irrespective of locality.

Goals and Health Service deliverables Progress included:
Goal
MC2, MC3 Enhance the provision of appropriate and culturally safe services, programs, and clinical trials for and 
as determined by Aboriginal people, embedding the principles of self-determination.
Health Service deliverable
MC2, MC3 Actively partner with the Bunurong Land 
Council and local Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
community members via the Bass Coast Reconciliation 
Network and develop processes to measure BCRN 
outcomes and impact. 

Achieved and Ongoing:
•	Partnering with five other leading employers, the 

Bunurong Land Council, and Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander community members resulted in the 
commencement of the Bass Coast Reconciliation 
Network (BCRN) in March 2019. The BCRN has 
partnered to deliver successful events in the 
community to recognise culturally significant days 
including NAIDOC, Reconciliation Week and Sorry 
Day. Examples of events include the 2025 Sorry Day 
event at Cape Paterson, the annual Indigenous Art 
Exhibition at Wonthaggi ArtSpace and the inaugural 
Ngangga Community Festival run at Berninneit in 
Cowes. The BCRN also published its first Collective 
Impact Statement, highlighting the social and economic 
benefits borne from this partnership. 

•	The BCRN has expanded to include a working group 
focused on partnering to deliver local events to 
recognise key acknowledgement days and weeks.

Health Service deliverable
MC2, MC3 Progress the work of the BCH Reconciliation 
Action Plan in collaboration with the staff Reconciliation 
Action working group to further progress the BCH 
Reconciliation Action Plan.

Achieved and Ongoing:
•	Bass Coast Health launched its first Reflect 

Reconciliation Action Plan in May, following 
endorsement from Reconciliation Australia. The launch, 
during National Reconciliation Week, was well-attended 
by staff and community members and featured a 
Welcome to Country and Smoking Ceremony performed 
by Bunurong Land Council Aboriginal Corporation. 

•	Key actions from our Reflect RAP include building 
relationships and respect through participation in 
events. Internal promotion attracted members of the 
RAP Working Group and staff to participate in a number 
of events organised by the Bass Coast Reconciliation 
Network. These include the NAIDOC Week Art 
Exhibition in Wonthaggi, the inaugural Ngangga 
Festival in Cowes, and January’s truth-telling event in 
Wonthaggi to commemorate Tunnerminnerwait and 
Maulbuoyhenner.

Health Service deliverable
MC2, MC3 Continue to explore opportunities for 
delivering culturally safe, welcoming environments with 
Aboriginal cultural symbols and spaces demonstrating, 
recognising, celebrating and respecting Aboriginal 
communities and culture.

Achieved and Ongoing:
•	Aboriginal artworks have been installed in the new 

Phillip Island Community Hospital, near both the front 
and rear entrances. Flag sets have also been installed in 
foyers and meeting rooms.
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Goals and Health Service deliverables Progress included:
Health Service deliverable
MC2, MC3 Partner with members of the Bass Coast 
Reconciliation Network to progress the Gathering Place, 
and to deliver local events to increase engagement and 
connection with Aboriginal community members.

Achieved and Ongoing:
•	The CEO and Director of Partnerships and Engagement 

have been involved from the inception in the 
development of a Gathering Place for Bass Coast. The 
Gathering Place is a community-led initiative with the 
support of partner organisations including BCH.
Through its partnership with the Bass Coast 
Reconciliation Network, BCH helped engage the 
community in local events, including the 2025 Sorry 
Day event at Cape Paterson, the annual Indigenous Art 
Exhibition at Wonthaggi ArtSpace and the inaugural 
Ngangga Community Festival run at Berninneit in Cowes 
during NAIDOC Week.

Goal
MC4 Expand the delivery of high-quality cultural safety training for all staff to align with the Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander cultural safety framework. This training should be delivered by independent, expert, 
community-controlled organisations or a Kinaway or Supply Nation certified Aboriginal business.
Health Service deliverable
MC4 Implement mandatory cultural safety training and 
assessment for all staff in alignment with the Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander cultural safety framework, and 
developed and/or delivered by independent, expert, and 
community-controlled organisations, Kinaway or Supply 
Nation certified Aboriginal businesses.

Achieved and Ongoing:
•	Following up on previous cultural safety training at a 

leadership level, face-to-face cultural safety training was 
delivered to staff in our medical workforce, reception 
staff, ward clerks and access teams, by an indigenous-
owned training consultancy business.

•	Bass Coast Health has developed an Aboriginal 
Employment Plan, which includes a focus on training 
for staff. As part of their orientation, all new staff and 
volunteers are given an overview of cultural safety and 
the importance of ‘asking the question’ by our Elder-
In-Residence. All staff have mandatory online cultural 
safety training, delivered through our E3 training 
platform.
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A stronger workforce
There is an increased supply of critical roles that support safe, high-quality care. Victoria is a world leader in employee 
experience, with a focus on future roles, capabilities and professional development. The workforce is regenerative and 
sustainable, bringing a diversity of skills and experiences that reflect the people and communities it serves. As a result of a 
stronger workforce, Victorians receive the right care at the right time, closer to home.

Goals and Health Service deliverables Progress including:
Goal
MD2 Explore new and contemporary models of care and practice, including future roles and capabilities.
Health Service deliverable
MD2 Expand specialist outpatient appointment access 
for the local community.

Achieved and Ongoing:
•	We achieved a 36 per cent increase in the number of 

clinics we offer to our community in the past three 
years, with most of this growth occurring in the 2024–25 
financial year.

•	We increased our general surgery and gynaecological 
clinics.

•	We introduced sleep studies and respiratory specialist 
outpatient clinics, and nephrology, infectious diseases 
and neurological services. 

Health Service deliverable
MD2 Develop the Model of Care for Phillip Island 
Community Hospital.

Achieved and Ongoing:
•	Phillip Island Community Hospital (PICH) has built 

capacity and capability to function integrally with all 
sites and services of BCH.

•	The model of care has focused on the fundamentals 
of BCH’s strategic plan to build local capacity and 
capability that is sustainable and provides care to the 
local community.

•	Existing Urgent Care team transitioned to a state-of-the-
art, contemporary new Urgent Care Centre within the 
PICH on 25 June.

•	A continued staged approach will broaden the services 
available at PICH throughout 2025–2026 to include 
expanded cancer therapies, day surgery, radiology and 
consulting spaces.

Health Service deliverable
MD2 Finalise the Model of Care documentation for 
Wonthaggi services.

Achieved and Ongoing:
•	Review and further development of the Close 

Observation Model of Care, increasing acute medical 
ward capability with a lens on safety and upskilling staff 
in this area. 

•	The Physician in Triage Model of Care in the Emergency 
Department was implemented and plays a key role in 
early patient assessment, streaming of care, initiating 
diagnostic workups and treatment plans to improve 
clinical initiation times and overall ED Length of Stay. 
They help prioritise patients based on clinical urgency, 
support timely decision-making and improve ED flow. 
Their presence enhances safety, particularly during 
periods of high demand.
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Moving from competition to collaboration
Share knowledge, information and resources with partner health and wellbeing services and care providers. This will allow 
patients to experience one health, wellbeing and care system through connected digital health information, evidence and 
data flows, enabled by advanced interoperable platforms.

Goals and Health Service deliverables Progress
Goal
ME2 Engage in integrated planning and service design approaches while assuring consistent and strong clinical 
governance with partners to connect the system to deliver seamless and sustainable care pathways and build 
sector collaboration.
Health Service deliverable 
ME2 Participate actively in any planning that is 
undertaken as part of the Health System reform.

Achieved and Ongoing:
•	Bayside Health. Eight work streams have been 

established to represent various departments within the 
five health services that will merge voluntarily. The work 
streams are undertaking vital work to prepare for the 
merger of the health services from 1 January 2026. 

•	Bass Coast Health’s many partnerships with Alfred 
Health continue, such as sharing medical staff and 
providing visiting specialists.

•	Successful transition to a new radiology provider, 
Imaging Associates. This company now provides 
radiology at Wonthaggi Hospital and will offer radiology 
at Phillip Island Community Hospital early in the new 
financial year.

Health Service deliverable 
ME2 Continue to progress the annual workplan of 
the South Gippsland Coast Local Area Partnership 
working group.

Achieved:
•	Bass Coast Health has worked closely with Gippsland 

Southern Health Service, Kooweerup Regional Health 
Service and South Gippsland Hospital to deliver a 
sub-regional workforce development program during 
2024–2025. 
Fourteen key initiatives engaged more than 400 staff 
from the partnering health services aimed at developing 
leadership capabilities, addressing occupational health 
and safety and staff wellbeing risks and opportunities, 
and focusing on particular service needs that support a 
skilled workforce that is responsive to patient needs. 
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Part B: Performance Priorities 

High quality and safe care

Key performance measure Target Result

Infection prevention and control

Percentage of healthcare workers immunised for influenza 94% 98%

Continuing care

Average change in the functional independence measure (FIM) score per 
day of care for rehabilitation separations

0.645 1.283

Adverse events 

Percentage of reported sentinel events for which a root cause analysis 
(RCA) report was submitted within 30 business days from notification of 
the event

All RCA reports 
submitted within 
30 business days

BCH had no 
reported sentinel 
events.

Aged care

Public sector residential aged care services overall star rating Minimum rating of 
3 stars

•	Griffiths Point 
Lodge, 5 stars

•	Kirrak House, 
4 stars

Patient experience 

Percentage of patients who reported positive experiences of their hospital 
stay 

95% 98%

Aboriginal Health

The gap between the number of Aboriginal patients who discharged 
against medical advice2 compared to non-Aboriginal patients

0% 0%

The gap between the number of Aboriginal patients who ‘did not 
wait’ presenting to hospital emergency departments compared to 
non-Aboriginal patients 

0% 3%

Strong governance, leadership and culture

Key performance measure Target Result

Organisational culture

People Matter Survey – percentage of staff with an overall positive 
response to safety culture survey questions

80% 70%

2 Further work will be undertaken on leave event measures terminology that better captures patient experience and Aboriginal community’s 
holistic understanding of health and wellbeing.
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Timely access to care

Key Performance Measure Target Result

Emergency Care

Percentage of patients transferred from ambulance to emergency 
department within 40 minutes3

4% improvement on 
23–24 performance

68%

Number of emergency patients with a length of stay in the emergency 
department greater than 24 hours

Zero 16

Mean ED length of stay (admitted) in minutes4 7% improvement on 
23–24 performance

203

Mean ED length of stay (non-admitted) in minutes5 3% improvement on 
23–24 performance

355

Inpatient length of stay in minutes 3% improvement on 
23–24 performance

3,513

Specialist Clinics

Percentage of patients referred by a GP or external specialist who 
attended a first appointment within the recommended timeframe6

95% 82%

Home Based Care

Percentage of admitted bed days delivered at home Equal to or better 
than prior year result

Current year: 14.6%
Previous year: 16.9%

Effective financial management

Key performance measure Target Result

Operating result ($m) 0.00 (0.81)

Adjusted current asset ratio 0.7 or 3% 
improvement from 
health service base 
target

1.0

Variance between forecast and actual Net result from transactions 
(NRFT) for the current financial year ending 30 June

5% movement in 
forecast revenue and 
expenditure forecasts

Not achieved

*The data included in this annual report was accurate at the time of publication and is subject to validation by official sources from the 
Department of Health.

3 Health services are expected to progress towards the target of 90% by demonstrating improvement of 4% or achieving at least 80% for this 
current year.

4 Services that have reached 306 minutes are expected to maintain or improve performance for this measure.
5 Services that have reached 240 minutes are expected to maintain or improve performance for this measure.
6 30 days for urgent patients, 365 days for routine patients.
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Part C: Activity and Funding

Bass Coast Health funding summary for 1 July 2024 – 30 June 2025

Funding Type 2024–2025 Activity 
achievement

Consolidated Activity Funding

Acute admitted, subacute admitted, emergency services, non-admitted NWAU 17,316

Acute Admitted

Acute admitted DVA 32

Acute admitted TAC (1)

Subacute/Non-Acute, Admitted & Non-admitted

Subacute – DVA 45

Aged Care

Residential aged care 21,335

HACC 7,794

Primary Health

Community health / primary care programs 17,615

Other

Health workforce 35

Other specified funding 175

*The data included in this annual report was accurate at the time of publication and is subject to validation by official sources from the 
Department of Health.
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The following table provides a summary of the financial results for the year, with comparative results for the 
preceding four financial years. Previous years’ data is included on the same basis where possible for 
comparative purposes.

Operating Result for the Year Ending 30 June 2025
2025
$000

2024
$000

2023
$000

2022
$000

2021
$000

Operating Result*

Total revenue 175,647 164,925 166,846 181,871 115,975

Total expenses 183,177 169,754 143,116 118,204 103,850

Net result from transactions (7,530) (4,829) 23,730 63,667 12,125

Total other economic flows 332 44 (341) (543) 170

Net result (7,198) (4,785) 23,389 63,124 12,295

Total assets 222,646 224,719 197,462 174,613 108,534

Total liabilities 44,630 39,505 32,911 33,451 31,499

Net assets/Total equity 178,016 185,214 164,551 141,162 77,035

*The Operating result is the result for which the health service is monitored in its Statement of Priorities

  Summary of Financial 
Results
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Reconciliation between the Net result from transactions to the 
Statement of Priorities Operating Result

2024–25 ($000)

Net operating result* (813)

Capital purpose income 5,600

Specific income N/A

COVID-19 State Supply Arrangements – Assets received free of charge or for nil consideration 
under the State Supply

149

State supply items consumed up to 30 June 2025 (149)

Assets provided free of charge N/A

Assets received free of charge 0

Expenditure for capital purpose N/A

Depreciation and amortisation (12,317)

Impairment of non-financial assets N/A

Finance costs (other) 0

Net result from transactions (7,530)

*The Operating result is the result for which the health service is monitored in its Statement of Priorities

   Operational and Budgetary Objectives and Factors 
Affecting Performance
Bass Coast Health’s financial operations performed strongly in 2024–25, exceeding activity-based funding targets. 
However, our overall financial position continued to be affected by an increasingly complex and high-cost 
operational environment. In the first half of the year, staffing costs rose due to the reliance on short-term agency 
staff to fill roster gaps. As the year progressed, BCH successfully recruited permanent staff, resulting in a 
noticeable reduction in agency usage. Consumable costs also increased, driven by the delivery of additional 
services across expanded programs, a larger operational floor plan and ongoing inflationary pressures.

Additional operational funding from the Department of Health, of $1.617m, was received to support the increased 
costs and support cash flow sustainability. Despite this, Bass Coast Health reported an operating deficit of 
$(0.813m) with the reported net result from transactions for the year being a deficit of $(7.530m). The operating 
deficit noted above includes capital purpose income of $5.6m and depreciation charges of $12.3m. 

The capital purpose income received during the year, of $5.6m, was provided to assist with the purchase of 
medical and ICT equipment, required for the fit-out of the Phillip Island Community Hospital, along with the early 
stages of the Staff Accommodation Facility project. 

Notwithstanding the increase in costs to support the operations of Bass Coast Health in the future, the health 
service remains committed to maintaining its financial sustainability through the ongoing delivery of safer and 
more expanded services with ongoing support from the Department of Health.



61

 Significant Changes in Financial Position During the Year
 There were no significant changes in financial position during the 2024–25 year.

 Events Subsequent to Balance Date
The Boards of Alfred Health, Peninsula Health, Bass Coast Health, Gippsland Southern Health Service and 
Kooweerup Regional Health Service have agreed to a voluntary merger to form a new health service, Bayside 
Health. The public services currently being delivered by each of the merging health services will continue to be 
delivered in the new merged entity of Bayside Health. 

The Secretary of the Victorian Department of Health provided in principle support for the merger on 14 February 
2025. On 28 June 2025, as required by the Health Services Act 1988, The Victorian Minister for Health sent her draft 
Ministerial Report, outlining a proposal for the voluntary merger, to the Boards for consideration. The Boards 
jointly responded on 22 July 2025, supporting the Ministerial Report.

The proposed effective date for the merger is 1 January 2026.
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  Details of consultancies (under $10,000)
In 2024–25, there were no consultants where the total fees payable to the consultants were less than $10,000. 
The total expenditure incurred during 2024–25 in relation to these consultancies is $0 (excl. GST).

  Details of consultancies (valued at $10,000 or greater)
In 2024–25, there was one consultant where the total fee payable to the consultant was $10,000 or greater. The 
total expenditure incurred during 2024–25 in relation to this consultancy was $15,704 (excl. GST).

Consultancies over $10,000

Consultant Purpose of 
Consultancy

Start date End date Total 
approved 
Project fee 
(ex GST)

Expenditure 
2023–24  
(ex GST)

Research and Safety 
Services Pty Ltd

BCH Staff Survey Report 1/06/2024 31/07/2024 $15,704.43 $15,704.43

Totals $15,704.43 $15,704.43

  Information and Communication 
Technology Expenditure
The total ICT expenditure incurred during 2024–25 is $5,637,043 (excluding GST) with the details shown below:

Business as Usual (BAU) 
ICT expenditure

Non-Business as Usual (non-BAU) ICT expenditure

Total (ex GST) Total = Operational 
expenditure and Capital 
expenditure (ex GST) 
(a) + (b)

Operational expenditure 
(ex GST) (a)

Capital expenditure (ex 
GST) (b)

$2,703,434 $2,933,609 $895,793 $2,037,816

Consultancies
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  Financial Management Compliance Attestation
I, Ian Thompson, on behalf of the Responsible Body, certify that Bass Coast Health has no Material Compliance 
Deficiency with respect to the applicable Standing Directions 2018 under the Financial Management Act 1994 
and Instructions.

Ian Thompson
Chair, Board of Directors
Bass Coast Health 
28 August 2025

  Data Integrity Declaration
I, Simone Alexander, certify that Bass Coast Health has put in place appropriate internal controls and processes to 
ensure that reported data accurately reflects actual performance. Bass Coast Health has critically reviewed these 
controls and processes during the year.

Simone Alexander
Interim Chief Executive Officer
Bass Coast Health 
28 August 2025

Attestations and 
Declarations
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  Conflict of Interest Declaration
I, Simone Alexander, certify that Bass Coast Health has put in place appropriate internal controls and processes to 
ensure that it has complied with the requirements of hospital circular 07/2017 Compliance reporting in health 
portfolio entities (Revised) and has implemented a ‘Conflict of Interest’ policy consistent with the minimum 
accountabilities required by the VPSC. Declaration of private interest forms have been completed by all executive 
staff within Bass Coast Health and members of the board, and all declared conflicts have been addressed and are 
being managed. Conflict of interest is a standard agenda item for declaration and documenting at each executive 
board meeting.

Simone Alexander
Interim Chief Executive Officer
Bass Coast Health 
28 August 2025

  Integrity, Fraud and Corruption Declaration
I, Simone Alexander, certify that Bass Coast Health has put in place appropriate internal controls and processes to 
ensure that integrity, fraud and corruption risks have been reviewed and addressed at Bass Coast Health during 
the year.

Simone Alexander
Interim Chief Executive Officer
Bass Coast Health 
28 August 2025

 Compliance with Health Share Victoria (HSV) Purchasing Policies 
I, Simone Alexander, certify that Bass Coast Health has put in place appropriate internal controls and processes to 
ensure that it has materially complied with all requirements set out in the HSV Purchasing Policies including 
mandatory HSV collective agreements as required by the Health Services Act 1988 (Vic) and has critically reviewed 
these controls and processes during the year.

Simone Alexander
Interim Chief Executive Officer
Bass Coast Health 
28 August 2025
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The annual report of BCH is prepared in accordance with all relevant Victorian legislation. This index has been 
prepared to facilitate identification of the Department’s compliance with statutory disclosure requirements.

Legislation Requirement Page Reference
Standing Directions and Financial Reporting Directions
Report of Operations

Charter and purpose
FRD 22 Manner of establishment and the relevant Ministers ii

FRD 22 Purpose, functions, powers and duties iii

FRD 22 Nature and range of services provided 2

FRD 22 Activities, programs and achievements for the reporting period 4

FRD 22 Significant changes in key initiatives and expectations for the future 14

Management and structure
FRD 22 Organisational structure 22

FRD 22 Workforce data / employment and conduct principles 45

FRD 22 Workforce inclusion policy 46

FRD 22 Occupational Health and Safety 45

Financial and other information
FRD 22 Summary of the financial results for the year 59

FRD 22 Significant changes in financial position during the year 61

FRD 22 Operational and budgetary objectives and performance against objectives 60

FRD 22 Subsequent events 61

FRD 22 Details of consultancies under $10,000 62

FRD 22 Details of consultancies over $10,000 62

FRD 22 Disclosure of government advertising expenditure N/A

FRD 22 Disclosure of ICT expenditure 62

FRD 22 Asset Management Accountability Framework 30

FRD 22 Disclosure of emergency procurement N/A

FRD 22 Disclosure of social procurement activities under the Social Procurement Framework 42

FRD 22 Disclosure of procurement complaints 29

FRD 22 Disclosure of reviews and study expenses 32

FRD 22 Disclosure of grants and transfer payments N/A

FRD 22 Application and operation of the Freedom of Information Act 1982 28

FRD 22 Compliance with building and maintenance provisions of the Building Act 1993 28

FRD 22 Application and operation of the Public Interest Disclosure Act 2012 29

FRD 22 Statement on National Competition Policy 29

Disclosure Index
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Legislation Requirement Page Reference
FRD 22 Application and operation of Carers Recognition Act 2012 29

FRD 22 Additional information available on request 44

FRD 24 Environmental data reporting 38

FRD 25 Local Jobs First Act 2003 disclosures 43

Compliance attestation and declaration
SD 5.1.4 Financial Management Compliance attestation 63

SD 5.2.3 Declaration in report of operations ii

Attestation on Data Integrity 63

Attestation on managing Conflicts of Interest 64

Attestation on Integrity, Fraud and Corruption 64

Compliance with Health Share Victoria (HSV) Purchasing Policies 64

Other reporting requirements
Reporting of outcomes from Statement of Priorities 2024–25 48

Occupational Violence reporting 46

Reporting obligations under the Safe Patient Care Act 2015 30

Reporting of compliance regarding Car Parking Fees (if applicable) N/A

Financial statements
Declaration
SD 5.2.2 Declaration in financial statements 67

Other requirements under Standing Directions 5.2
SD 5.2.1(a) Compliance with Australian accounting standards and other authoritative 

pronouncements
67

SD 5.2.1(a) Compliance with Standing Directions 67

SD 5.2.1(b) Compliance with Model Financial Report N/A

Other disclosures as required by FRDs in notes to the financial statements (a)(b)

FRD 11 Disclosure of Ex gratia Expenses N/A

FRD 103 Non-Financial Physical Assets 134

FRD 110 Cash Flow Statements 72

FRD 112 Defined Benefit Superannuation Obligations 88

FRD 114 Financial Instruments – general government entities and public non-financial corporations 118

Legislation
Freedom of Information Act 1982 (Vic) (FOI Act) 28

Building Act 1993 28

Public Interest Disclosures Act 2012 29

Carers Recognition Act 2012 29

Local Jobs Act 2003 43

Financial Management Act 1994 (b) 67

Notes:
(a) References to FRDs have been removed from the Disclosure Index if the specific FRDs do not contain requirements that are in the 
nature of disclosure.
(b) Refer to the Model financial statements section (Part two) for further details.
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  Board Member’s, Accountable Officer’s and Chief Finance and 
Accounting Officer’s Declaration
The attached financial statements for Bass Coast Health have been prepared in accordance with Direction 5.2 of 
the Standing Directions of the Assistant Treasurer under the Financial Management Act 1994, applicable Financial 
Reporting Directions, Australian Accounting Standards including Interpretations, and other mandatory 
professional reporting requirements.

We further state that, in our opinion, the information set out in the comprehensive operating statement, balance 
sheet, statement of changes in equity, cash flow statement and accompanying notes, presents fairly the financial 
transactions during the year ended 30 June 2025 and the financial position of Bass Coast Health at 30 June 2025.

At the time of signing, we are not aware of any circumstance which would render any particulars included in the 
financial statements to be misleading or inaccurate.

We authorise the attached financial statements for issue on 28 August 2025.

Board Member

Ian Thompson 
Chair 
Wonthaggi 
28 August 2025

Accountable Officer

Simone Alexander 
Interim Chief Executive Officer 
Wonthaggi 
28 August 2025

Chief Finance and Accounting 
Officer

Shaun Brooks 
Chief Finance and Accounting Officer 
Wonthaggi 
28 August 2025

Financial Statements – 
Financial Year Ending 
30 June 2025
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Board of Bass Coast Health 

Opinion I have audited the financial report of Bass Coast Health (the health service) which 
comprises the: 

• balance sheet as at 30 June 2025 
• comprehensive operating statement for the year then ended 
• statement of changes in equity for the year then ended 
• cash flow statement for the year then ended 
• notes to the financial statements, including material accounting policy information 
• Board member's, accountable officer's and chief finance & accounting officer's 

declaration. 

In my opinion the financial report presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the health service as at 30 June 2025 and their financial performance and cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with the financial reporting requirements of 
Part 7 of the Financial Management Act 1994 and applicable Australian Accounting 
Standards.   

Basis for 
Opinion 

I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which incorporates the 
Australian Auditing Standards. I further describe my responsibilities under that Act and 
those standards in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 
section of my report.  

My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and I are 
independent of the health service in accordance with the ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant 
to my audit of the financial report in Victoria. My staff and I have also fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion. 

Board’s 
responsibilities 
for the 
financial 
report 

The Board of the health service is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of 
the financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Financial 
Management Act 1994, and for such internal control as the Board determines is necessary 
to enable the preparation of a financial report that is free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the Board is responsible for assessing the health service’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless it is inappropriate to do 
so. 
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2 

Auditor’s 
responsibilities 
for the audit 
of the financial 
report 

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
financial report based on the audit. My objectives for the audit are to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing 
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of this financial report.  

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I 
also:  

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. 

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the health service’s 
internal control 

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the 
Board 

• conclude on the appropriateness of the Board’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the health service’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report 
to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events 
or conditions may cause the health service to cease to continue as a going 
concern  

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.  

I communicate with the Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that I identify during my audit. 

 

 
MELBOURNE 
1 September 2025 

 
                                                                                                      Simone Bohan 

as delegate for the Auditor-General of Victoria 
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 Cash flow statements
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Interests in joint arrangements are accounted for by recognising in Bass Coast Health’s financial 
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Bass Coast Health’s principal address is: 

Australian Accounting Standards – 

Australian Accounting Standards – 

Australian Accounting Standards – 
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Bass Coast Health’s overall objective is to provide quality health service that support and enhance the 

measure the health service’s progress as this is deemed to be the 
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In contracts with customers, the ‘customer’ is the funding body, who is the party that promises funding in 
exchange for Bass Coast Health’s goods or services. Bass Coast Health's funding bodies often direct that goods 

This policy applies to each of Bass Coast Health’s revenue streams, with information detailed below relating to 
Bass Coast Health’s material revenue streams:
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Coast Health’s obligation to construct the asset. The progressive percentage of costs incurred is used to recognise 
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•

•

•
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●  nominal value – if Bass Coast Health expects to wholly settle within 12 months or
●  present value – if Bass Coast Health does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months.

●  nominal value – if Bass Coast Health expects to wholly settle within 12 months or
●  present value – if Bass Coast Health does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months.
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 Defined Benefit Superannuation Obligations

The DTF discloses the State’s defined benefits liabilities in its disclosure for administered items. Superannuation 

Coast Health’s staff during the reporting period.  Superannuation contributions are made to the plans based on the 
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● short term leases – leases with a term of twelve months or less, and
● low value leases – leases with the underlying asset’s fair value (when new, regardless of the age of the asset 
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• If an asset’s value has declined more than expected based 

•

•
•

•
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depreciated. Depreciation is generally calculated on a straight-line basis at rates that allocate the asset’s 
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• the lease term is for the majority of the asset’s useful life
•

•

•

•
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Other provisions include Bass Coast Health’s obligation to restore leased 
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Refer to Note 7.2(a) for Bass Coast Health’s contractual impairment losses.

●  

are classified as financial instruments and are categorised as ‘financial assets at amortised cost’. They are 

●  
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•
•

•

generally the case for the health service’s lease arrangements, Bass 



109

•

•

•



110 Bass Coast Health Annual Report 2024–25



111



112 Bass Coast Health Annual Report 2024–25

Bass Coast Health’s lease arrangements consist of the following:

●  the contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly 

● Bass Coast Health has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the identified 

● Bass Coast Health has the right to take decisions in respect of ‘how and for what purpose’ the asset is 
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characteristics of the health service’s assets are considered, including 

•  Market approach, which uses prices and other relevant information 

assets and liabilities. The fair value of Bass Coast Health’s [specialised 

•  Cost approach, which reflects the amount that would be required to 

replacement cost). The fair value of Bass Coast Health’s [specialised 
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•  Income approach, which converts future cash flows or income and 

•  Level 1, using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 

•  Level 2, inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that 

•  Level 3, where inputs are unobservable. Bass Coast Health 
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 Financial instruments

i 
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There has been no material change to Bass Coast Health’s credit risk profile in 2024-25.

As a whole, Bass Coast Health’s financial risk management program seeks to manage the risks and the associated 

Bass Coast Health’s main financial risks include credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and 

Bass Coast Health’s exposure to credit risk arises from the potential default of a counterparty on their contractual 

Credit risk associated with Bass Coast Health’s contractual financial assets is minimal because the main debtor is the 

with the policy for debtors, Bass Coast Health’s policy is to only deal with banks with high credit ratings.

financial statements, net of any allowances for losses, represents Bass Coast Health’s maximum exposure to credit risk 
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1–5

1–5

AASB 9’s Expected Credit Loss approach. Subject to AASB 9, the impairment assessment includes the health service’s 

Bass Coast Health applies AASB 9’s simplified approach for all contractual receivables to measure expected credit 

and select the expected credit loss rate based on Bass Coast Health’s past history, existing market conditions, as well 

1–3 3 months –1 

Bass Coast Health’s non-contractual receivables arising from statutory requirements are not financial instruments. 

the counterparty’s credit rating, risk of default and capacity to meet contractual cash flow obligations in the near 

1–3 3 months –1 
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● 

-       

-       

●
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●
●
●

● Level 1 – quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
● Level 2 – valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 

● Level 3 – valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 

determine whether revaluation is required. The Valuer-General Victoria (VGV) is Bass Coast Health’s independent 
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participants would use the asset similarly or sell it for that purpose. This assessment takes into account the asset’s 

upon the asset’s Government Purpose Classification, but may occur more frequently if fair value assessments indicate 
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 Non-Financial Physical Assets

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Fair Value Measurement of Non-Financial Assets of 

An independent valuation of Bass Coast Health’s non-financial physical assets was performed by the VGV on 30 June 

The CSO adjustment reflects the valuer’s assessment of the impact of restrictions associated with an asset to the 

Specialised land includes Crown Land which is measured at fair value with regard to the property’s highest and best 
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An independent valuation of Bass Coast Health’s specialised land and specialised buildings was performed by the 
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Amounts relating to Responsible Ministers are reported within the State’s Annual Financial Report. 
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●
● jointly controlled operations –a member of the Gippsland Health Alliance and

Minister’s remuneration and allowances is set by the 
and is reported within the State’s Annual Report.

●

●
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working capital) in accordance with the State of Victoria’s centralised banking arrangements. All borrowings 
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BCH Site Map
Main Site
1.   Wonthaggi Hospital 

235 Graham Street, Wonthaggi Vic. 3995 
Phone: 03 5671 3333

Satellite Sites
2.    San Remo 

1 Back Beach Road, San Remo Vic. 3925 
Phone: 03 5671 9200 

3.    Phillip Island Community Hospital 
50-56 Church Street, Cowes Vic. 3922 
Phone: 03 5951 2100 

Outreach Sites
4.   Grantville 

Grantville Transaction Centre 
Cnr. Bass Highway & Pier Road, Grantville Vic. 3984 
Phone: 03 5671 3333 

5.   Corinella 
Corinella & District Community Centre 
48 Smythe Street, Corinella Vic. 3984 
Phone: 03 5671 3333

Residential Aged Care Facilities
6.   Kirrak House

 

Baillieu Street, Wonthaggi Vic. 3995

 

Phone: 03 5671 3250
7.    

 

Davis Point Road, 
San Remo Vic. 3925

Gri�ths Point Lodge

 
Phone: 03 5678 5311

Maternal and Child Health Sites
8.   Wonthaggi

Wonthaggi Drysdale Street Kindergarten
27 Drysdale Street, Wonthaggi Vic. 3995
Phone: 03 5671 4275

 
 

9.   Inverloch
Inverloch Community Hub
16 A'Beckett Street, Inverloch Vic. 3996
Phone: 03 5671 4275

 

 

10.   San Remo 
San Remo Kindergarten 
23 Back Beach Road, San Remo Vic. 3925 
Phone: 03 5671 4275 

11.   Cowes 
Phillip Island Early Learning Centre 
161 Settlement Road, Cowes Vic. 3922 
Phone: 03 5671 4275

12.   Bass Valley
Bass Valley Children's Centre
60 Corinella Road, Corinella, Vic. 3984
Phone: 03 5671 4275

 
 

 

13.   Grantville
Grantville Transaction Centre
Corner Bass Highway and Pier Road, Grantville, Vic. 3984
Phone: 03 5671 4275

 

Loch
GrantvilleCorinella

Bass

Anderson
Archies Creek

Wonthaggi

Cape Paterson

San Remo
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